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£3.2m
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75%
Farm-out of Zhibek Resources Ltd 
to finance US$10m exploration 
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Reduction in Administrative  
and operating expenses  
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Geological information 
and estimates of resources
Extrem Energy
The geological information 
and estimates of resources 
contained in the annual 
report relating to Extrem 
Energy has been provided 
using the SPE standards 
and includes the following 
terms: “mbbl” (million 
barrels); “bcf” (billion cubic 
feet); “P50” (“development 
pending – contingent 
resources”). This information 
has been reviewed and 
approved by Ongun 
Yoldemir, Managing Director 
of Extrem Energy, who has a 
masters degree in geological 
engineering and worked as 
an explorationist in the oil 

and gas sector in the Middle 
East, Kazakhstan, Azerbaijan, 
and North Sea, has over 
28 years’ experience in 
the resource and energy 
sector and is a member of 
the American Association 
of Petroleum Geologists, 
European Association of 
Geologists and Engineers, 
the Society of Exploration 
Geophysicists and several 
related Turkish institutions.

XOL
The geological information 
and estimates of resources 
contained in the annual 
report relating to XOL has 
been provided using the 
internationally recognised 
Australasian Code for 

Reporting of Exploration 
Results, Mineral Resources 
and Ore Reserves (The 
JORC Code – 2004 Edition). 
This information has been 
reviewed and approved 
by Dr John E. Shirley 
(Managing Director of Xtract 
Oil Limited), who has a BSc 
and PhD in Geophysics from 
the University of Tasmania, 
over 40 years’ experience 
in the resource and energy 
sector and is a member of 
the Society of Petroleum 
Engineers.

Elko and MEO
Elko, as an unquoted 
company, and MEO, as 
an ASX quoted company, 
are not subject to the AIM 

Rules and the geological 
information and estimates 
of resources contained in 
this annual report relating 
to these companies has 
been supplied by these 
companies and has not 
been reviewed by a named 
“qualified person” as 
defined and required by  
the AIM Note for Mining,  
 Oil and Gas Companies.

Cover image  
Drilling operations at 
Sarikiz-2 well site.
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Xtract Energy plc

Our Strategy
The Right Projects
Xtract aims to build and manage a  
portfolio of energy assets where the cost 
of entry is relatively low but where there  
is very considerable upside potential.  
The Company considers opportunities in 
both conventional and non-conventional 
energy sectors, focusing on those that do 
not rely on public sector subsidy for their 
success. The Board expects to maintain  
its current policy of investing mainly in 
well-established political jurisdictions.

The Right Investment Strategy
By holding a portfolio of private  
and public company investments,  
Xtract aims to offer investors access  
to otherwise unlisted opportunities  
together with financial flexibility  
and liquidity. The Company is alert  
to the challenges presented by the  
current volatile market conditions  
and the Board will continue to adjust  
the Group’s financial positioning to  
respond appropriately to a continuing 
downturn and/or a subsequent period  
of opportunity.

The Right People
Attracting and retaining people with  
the necessary experience, enterprise  
and motivation is a challenge for all 
companies; even more so for early-stage 
businesses. Xtract takes its people  
issues very seriously and uses its  
wide network of connections to source 
talented individuals who can contribute 
at board and senior management levels. 
Where specific expertise is needed, 
acknowledged expert consultants  
are retained.

Xtract Energy identifies opportunities and invests in 
a portfolio of early stage energy sector businesses 
and projects with very significant growth potential. 
We engage actively with the associated management 
teams to build and crystallise shareholder value through 
critical technical inputs, board-level experience and the 
application of corporate finance expertise. We aim to 
achieve returns for our shareholders through the capital 
growth of our investments.
 
The Directors evaluate new investment opportunities 
from time to time and may engage the Company in 
additional businesses and projects in conventional and 
non-conventional fields such as oil shale. Opportunities 
considered may be green field and/or involve the 
acquisition of or participation in already existing 
businesses which may be quoted or unquoted.  
Due to the typically active nature of our engagement  
with investee companies, we expect that our portfolio 
will continue to be focused on a relatively limited  
number of significant investments rather than being  
very broadly spread.
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Chairman’s Statement

The first six to nine months of the 
financial year were marked by financial 
turmoil and declining commodity prices 
which made for extremely challenging 
investment conditions. Share prices  
for smaller quoted energy firms such 
as Xtract declined, driven in part by the 
need for liquidity of hedge funds and 
other investors. The sustained adverse 
market conditions and a heightened 
uncertainty over the outlook for oil 
prices necessitated a reassessment of 
the Group’s investment priorities. The 
final months of the period saw some 
tentative signs of recovery in the global 
economy, although there remains a high 
level of uncertainty over future trends 
and management of the Group’s cash 
position remains a priority.

Given the circumstances, I am pleased 
to be able to say that there are some 
notable positive achievements to report 
in the period. Indications are that our new 
joint venture in Turkey, Extrem Energy 
A.S. (“Extrem”) may have made a more 
promising oil discovery than was expected 
with its first on-shore well in its Alasehir 
license area and that it has the potential 
to become a cornerstone of the portfolio. 
Further details of the developments and 
operations in Turkey can be found in  
the CEO’s Review section of this report.

Some tough decisions were needed

In the first part of the period, the Company 
had to make some tough decisions 
to reduce cash burn and to focus its 
investments in the most promising areas. 
This included placing the technology 
development of subsidiary Xtract Oil Ltd 
into hibernation, although Xtract Oil Ltd 
intends to maintain its mineral rights over 
its 2.12 billion barrels of indicated and 
inferred resources until conditions improve 
sufficiently to attract further investment.

The Company succeeded in putting its 
interests in Kyrgyzstan onto a stable footing 
by ending its involvement in the water 
injection project and farming out 75% of the 
exploration venture to Santos in exchange 
for commitments to fund up to US$8.5 
million towards a 2009–10 exploration 
programme. These arrangements 
significantly reduced overall cash burn and 
enabled the Company to gain exposure to  
a potentially interesting exploration target  
at a manageable level of investment.

In order to help protect and advance 
shareholder interests in the new business 
environment, we decided that action was 
required to change the board of associate 
Elko Energy Inc (“Elko”). In December 2008 
three independent non-executive directors 
of Elko resigned, together with the CEO, 
Rudolf Kleiber. John Conlon (a director of 
Xtract) and Jack Bray (a director of DM Bray 
Capital) were appointed and Jeremy Kane 
agreed to remain as an independent non-
executive director for a temporary period 
to continue to represent the interests of 
the minority shareholders. Andy Morrison 
remained on the Board and became Acting 
CEO of Elko, pending the appointment 
of Peter Moir who commenced full time 
employment as director, President and  
CEO of Elko on 26 January 2009. 

The back-drop provided by the economic 
and financial challenges in the early part 
of the year were made more serious for 
the Group by the disappointing outcome 
of the drilling campaign by associate MEO 
Australia Ltd (“MEO”) in the North-West 
Shelf of Australia. The Zeus-1 well spudded 
in January 2009. Testing results confirmed 
the primary objective sands to be water 
rather than gas-bearing and the well  
was plugged and abandoned in February  
2009. Fortunately, the Group was not 
over-committed to MEO having positioned 
itself to gain from the significant upside 
that would have arisen from success at 
Zeus-1, whilst at the same time seeking to 
ensure that its other portfolio businesses 
had sufficient funding whatever the drilling 
result.

“ Given the circumstances, 
I am pleased to be able 
to say that there are 
some notable positive 
achievements to report  
in the period.”

John Newton 
Executive Chairman
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In April 2009, Xtract announced that it  
had entered into a conditional agreement 
with Lysander Minerals Corporation 
(“Lysander”) of Canada under which the 
Company would acquire new common 
shares and warrants in Lysander in 
exchange for Xtract’s entire interest in 
Elko. The proposed arrangement aimed 
to crystallise the value of Elko within the 
Company’s portfolio and provide valuable 
commercial flexibility to the Xtract Group. 
From a financial perspective it promised 
to strengthen liquidity by increasing the 
proportion of the Group’s holdings in 
publicly listed entities. 

At the present time, discussions with 
Lysander are paused while Lysander 
works on its other planned investments. 
Negotiations on the conditional agreement 
may or may not resume at a later date. 

During the second quarter of 2009, Xtract 
began a process of managed exit from 
its investment in MEO in order to finance 
other investments within its portfolio 
and to improve overall liquidity. During 
the course of the reporting period, the 
Company had reduced its holding in MEO 
from approximately 14.2% to approximately 
3.4% of the issued capital, raising a total  
of A$8.95 million. By 7 August 2009, the 
Company had sold all of its remaining 
shares in MEO. As a result of the disposals, 
Xtract no longer holds any interest in MEO. 
The total return on investment over the 
holding period was an estimated 124%  
(see side panel for details).

In other developments, investee company 
Wasabi Energy Ltd (“Wasabi”) raised 
approximately A$4.6 million in June 2009 
through a pro-rata rights issue of convertible 
preference shares. Funds from the issue 
were used to discharge A$2.36 million  
of convertible loan notes and to provide 
working capital. The balance of A$1.15 
million of the outstanding loan notes was 
repaid by the distribution of 35,000,000 
Xtract shares to the note holders. The 
distribution of the Xtract shares resolved 
the cross-holding situation that had arisen 
from the 2008 sale of these shares by 
Cambrian Mining Plc to Wasabi. As a 
result of the rights issue, Xtract’s holding 
in Wasabi at the end of the period had 
reduced to approximately 12.1%. In 
post-period developments the disposal of 
Xtract’s remaining holding in Wasabi was 
completed. 

The need for additional liquidity in the 
Company has been reduced for the time 
being by the disposal of our stakes in MEO 
Australia Ltd and Wasabi Energy Ltd, but 
liquidity remains a challenge on which 
management is focused.

On 13 July 2009, Cambrian Mining Plc 
was itself taken over by Western Coal 
Corporation (“Western Coal”) with the 
result that Western Coal took over as 
the Group’s major shareholder holding 
approximately 45.3% of the issued capital. 

Increased focus on core oil and gas 
portfolio

The year under review has been one 
of considerable change. Xtract has 
demonstrated its flexibility to adapt to  
these challenging and unprecedented 
times. The consolidation that has taken 
place over the past twelve months has 
resulted in a stronger and leaner company. 
Xtract looks forward to further success  
in Turkey and the return to the overall 
stability of world financial markets. Xtract  
is committed to focusing its resources on 
its core oil and gas portfolio (including oil 
shale) and to continue to provide sustained  
growth for shareholders.

Dated: 13 November 2009

John Newton 
Executive Chairman

Our investment in Turkey proved to be  
a turning point

In Turkey, under the terms of the 
agreement with Merty Energy (“Merty”), 
we created a Turkish company, Extrem 
Energy A.S. (“Extrem”) in which Xtract and 
Merty initially held 20% and 80% interests 
respectively. Xtract invested US$5.0 million 
to fund Extrem’s initial work programme 
and Merty applied for the transfer of a 
portfolio of seven licence interests into 
Extrem. On 30 June 2009, Xtract exercised 
its option to increase its share-holding by 
contributing a second tranche of US$1.75 
million. A third and final optional tranche  
of US$1.75 million was subscribed on  
05 August 2009 to take the Company’s 
holding to the current level of 34%.

The Group remained flexible as market 
conditions evolved

The new Elko board has advanced the  
asset portfolio considerably during the  
year and is now much better placed to 
attract industry participants to farm in  
to developments in the Netherlands and 
Denmark. Discussions with infrastructure 
providers have advanced alongside 
discussions with potential partners.  
The external market remains capital-
constrained which presents challenges  
to even the best-prepared projects,  
but we remain optimistic that Xtract  
can recover its investment in Elko and 
potentially achieve an attractive return.  
We would like to bring Elko to a liquidity 
event as soon as practicable.

34%
Xtract exercised its option to increase 
its share-holding in Extrem Energy A.S. 
to 34%.

A$8.95m 
A$8.95m raised by sale of shares  
in MEO Australia Ltd to fund other 
investments.
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“ Turkey has recently 
started attracting 
enthusiasm from the 
international oil and 
gas community both 
for its own prospects 
and for the logistical 
and cultural affinity 
with the Kurdish areas 
of northern Iraq.”

The Right Projects
Focus on Turkey – Extrem Energy A.S.
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Main image  
Construction of 
storage tanks 
for production at 
Sarikiz-2 well site.

Top  
The Board of 
Extrem Energy. 
From left to right: 
Ongun Yoldemir, 
Berrin Yoldemir 
and Andy Morrison. 

Middle  
Oil flowing during 
production test at 
Sarikiz-2.

Bottom  
Drilling rig on site  
at Alasehir-1.

On 31 August 2008, Xtract 
completed a definitive 
agreement with Merty Energy, 
Petroleum Exploration, 
Education and Services Inc 
(‘Merty’) of Turkey regarding 
an investment in a new 
exploration and production 
joint venture. Xtract and 
Merty, together, aim to create 
medium-sized oil and gas 
exploration and production 
business initially focused  
on Turkey, where Merty  
has particular expertise  
and experience.

Turkey has a high demand for 
energy providing an excellent 
local market. There is an 
extensive gas grid covering the 
country reducing development 
costs and time. Turkey has 
attractive fiscal terms, under a 
tax royalty system, with a gross 
royalty of 12.5% and corporate 
tax rate of 20%. In addition, 
there are exploration incentives, 
exemption from import tax and 
value-added tax and no ceiling 
on cost-recovery. Oil and gas 
are sold at international market 
prices. The screening modeling 
suggests operator net revenue 
of over 50% of the gross 
revenue. Turkey has recently 
started attracting enthusiasm 
from the international oil and 
gas community both for its own 
prospects and for the logistical 
and cultural affinity with the 
Kurdish areas of northern Iraq.

If they made soap operas about 
state-owned companies, one of 
the most likely plot lines would 
be that of the long-serving 
technocrat, despairing of the 
endless red tape, one day striking 
out on his own. It’s a story Ongun 
Yoldemir, founder and CEO of 
Merty knows well, having quit 
his position as senior geologist at 
Turkey’s state oil extractor TPAO 
in 2001 to set up in business 
on his own. Although oil prices 
back then were at an all-time 
low, Yoldemir knew that the oil 
and gas prospects he had been 
working on were commercially 
viable, and armed with that 
knowledge he founded Merty 
with the aim of further exploring 
Turkey’s hydrocarbon potential. 
Merty began as a three-man 
team offering seismic surveying 
services. By mid-2009, with four 
seismic crews, it is the biggest 
seismic surveying company in 
Turkey and with103 technical 
staff and 100 ancillary staff, it is 
one of the fastest growing energy 
companies in the region.

Yoldemir has a master’s degree 
in geological engineering and 
has worked for over 28 years 
as an explorationist in the oil 
and gas sector in the Middle 
East, Kazakhstan, Azerbaijan, 
and North Sea. He is a member 
of the American Association of 
Petroleum Geologists, European 
Association of Geologists 
and Engineers, the Society 
of Exploration Geophysicists 
and several related Turkish 
institutions. 

Under the terms of the 
agreement, Merty and Xtract 
created a Turkish company, 
Extrem Energy A.S. (“Extrem”) 
in which Xtract and Merty now 
hold 34% and 66% interests 
respectively. Yoldemir is 
Managing Director of Extrem. 
Xtract CEO Andy Morrison is  
also a director.

Extrem participates in three 
onshore areas, Alasehir, Edirne 
and Siraseki and in two offshore 
areas at Candarli Bay and the  
Sea of Marmara. (Refer Figure1) 



Xtract Energy plc  Annual Report & Accounts 200906

Alasehir (Sarikiz)
The Alasehir Basin is a Tertiary 
aged clastic basin and a semi-
mature hydrocarbon exploration 
and production area. The basin 
has a sedimentary succession of 
3000–4500m thick and created 
by large rifting faults and has a 
geothermal gradient that causes 
early maturation of hot shales. 
The reservoir is lower-middle 
Miocene clastics, which are also 
thought to provide the source. 
Effective seals are provided by 
bounding faults and clay zones 
within the formation. Oil (31 and 
37 deg. API) was discovered in 
the basin through wells Alasehir-1 
and Sarikiz-1 which were drilled by 
former licence holders between 
1999 and 2001. 

Although the hydrocarbon 
system was proven, the reservoir 
structures were found to be quite 
complex and the fields were 
not developed at that time. The 
original licence holders were 
focused on deeper intervals than 
Extrem. Additional seismic and 
interpretation has enabled Extrem 
to pioneer commercial production 
from the basin. 

Extrem’s first well, known as 
Sarikiz-2 was spudded in this 
licence area on 31 October 
2008. A full suite of logging 
was run which showed the 
presence of oil in several discreet 
reservoirs at intervals between 
1500–1800m depth. Production 
flow testing was conducted in 
June–July 2009 and the well 
was then declared commercial. 
The well is currently shut in as 
a producing well awaiting the 
completion of surface facilities. 
Initial commercial production is 
estimated to be 350 b/d starting  
in or before November 2009.

Sarikiz (The Golden Maiden) is 
a Turkish mythical figure. Every 
year in the third week of August, 
visitors go to the Sarikiz Tomb on 
the peak of Mount Ida. Visitors 
light candles, write in the tomb’s 
note book or place small stones 
around the tomb to make a wish.  
According to villagers, Sarikiz 
helps those in trouble, for example 
running to the sea to bring handfuls 
of water to the mountain top 
for her aged parents to drink. 
Shooting stars are thought to be 
the arm of Sarikiz reaching into 
the bay for water. 

At the time of writing, Extrem  
is engaged in a drilling programme 
to expand production in the 
Alasehir licence area. The 
programme involves the re-entry  
of pre-existing wells and the  
drilling of a fresh well. If successful, 
cash flow from these wells 
will be used to accelerate 
development of other licences 
within the Extrem portfolio and 
the knowledge gained from them 
will be used to prepare field 
development plans and reserve 
calculations.

Edirne (Thrace Basin)
Edirne (Thrace Basin) is the 
second most important oil and 
gas region in Turkey. The main 
production in the basin is natural 
gas (Methane 95–98%). There 
are about 25 producing gas fields, 
the biggest being Hamitabat 
Field. Fields produce from Tertiary 
(Eocene-Oligocene) clastics 
and Upper Eocene reefs. The 
first discovery of gas was in the 
Hamitabat Field; Estimated Gas  
in Place is 5.5 Billion m3.

Regional seismic data was 
acquired and interpreted by 
Extrem. This work has identified 
12 leads which are considered 
low risk targets. A further infill 
seismic program has also been 
completed to improve the 
definition of these leads and 
progress them to drill-ready 
prospects. The play concept is 
familiar to Merty because they 
successfully drilled the same 
play in the adjacent permit and 
discovered the Koyastu field. 
The drilling is quick and cheap. 
Although due to the shallow level 
(300–400M) the reserve sizes  
are small at 20–80 million m3  
(0.7–2.8 BCF), they are quick to 
put into production upon success. 
There is one larger lead with the 
potential to trap 800 million m3  
(28 BCF).

Siraseki (Adana Region)
Siraseki is located onshore in the 
Adana Basin in southern Turkey. 
The Adana Basin has undergone 
3 periods of compressional 
deformation since the Cretaceous 
resulting in large well defined 
structural traps.

The primary reservoir is the 
Middle Miocene reefoidal 
limestone (Karaisali formation). 
The largest field in the area is 
the Bulgurdağ oil field which has 
reservoir porosities of 20–25%, 
and permeability is up to 80–100 
md. Middle-Upper Miocene 
shales provide good seals. 
The main source rocks in the 
Adana Basin are black shales of 
Carboniferous, marls and shaly 
limestones of Oligocene, shales 
and marls of Lower-Middle 
Miocene. 

The acquisition by Extrem of  
good quality seismic data has 
helped define the Menekselik 
prospect which is located to the 
south-east of an area where  
4 wells encountered good gas 
shows. The prospect is fault 
bound and the structural closure 
is approximately 11 sq km. Using 
petrophysical parameters from 
nearby wells the P50 volumes 
have been estimated at 28.8 
million bbls oil recoverable or  
94 bcf of gas. Data from nearby 
wells suggests the structure is 
more likely to contain gas than oil.

The Right Projects
Focus on Turkey – Extrem Energy A.S.
continued
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Licences 
Offshore: 

1  Candarli Bay 

2  Sea of Marmara 
 (3 licences)

Onshore:

3  Edirne

4  Siraseki 

5  Alasehir

Top
Regional map showing 
Turkey.

Bottom
Map of Turkey showing 
location of Extrem 
Energy licences.
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Candarli Bay
Candarli Bay is located in the 
Aegean Sea, close to the Aliaga 
oil refinery in south-west Turkey. 
There is good evidence of a 
working hydrocarbon system from 
the limited well data and coarse 
seismic grid that has previously 
been shot. The early-middle 
Miocene outcrops in the nearby 
on-shore demonstrate good 
source rock potential and there 
is further potential within the 
Eocene shales that are also the 
source rock in the Thrace basin. 
The reservoirs are thought to be 
sandstones within a basin floor 
fan structure as well as shallower 
fractured zones of limestones.

Further seismic work is required 
to improve knowledge and to 
help define drilling targets and 
it is expected to complete this 
work during 2010. On the basis 
of data currently available it is a 
very exciting prospect with up to 
780mbbls resources potentially 
recoverable if the reservoirs are 
full of oil according to internal 
calculations. 

Extrem’s assets are intended 
to provide a well balanced 
portfolio with near term on-shore 
development that is low risk and 
quick to bring on stream with  
high potential off-shore prospects  
such as at Candarli Bay and the 
Sea of Marmara.
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CEO’s Review

The operations of the Group have been 
substantially transformed over the period 
under review in response to dramatic 
changes in market conditions. The move 
away from being essentially a passive 
investment company to one with more 
active involvement in its assets was 
achieved more quickly than was foreseen 
last year. Although much has been done  
to position the Company for the future,  
the transformation is as yet incomplete.  
The prize for getting it right can be 
substantial, even in these more challenging 
post-boom times.

Underpinning our relative confidence in the 
future is our recent investment in Turkey, 
where on-shore appraisal and development 
opportunities offer promising rewards for 
manageable levels of financial commitment. 
The off-shore licences within the Turkish 
portfolio provide additional upside potential 
which can be accessed when investment 
conditions permit.

Extrem Energy A.S. (Turkey)
On 31 August 2008, the Company 
completed a definitive agreement with 
Merty Energy, Petroleum Exploration, 
Education and Services Inc (‘Merty’) of 
Turkey regarding an investment in a new 
exploration and production joint venture. 
Xtract and Merty, together, aim to create 
medium-sized oil and gas exploration 
and production business initially focused 
on Turkey, where Merty has particular 
expertise and experience.

Under the terms of the agreement,  
the parties created a Turkish company, 
Extrem Energy A.S. (“Extrem”) in which 
Xtract and Merty initially held 20% and 
80% interests respectively. Xtract invested 
US$5.0 million to fund Extrem’s initial 
work programme and Merty applied for 
the transfer of a portfolio of seven licence 
interests into Extrem.

The licences transferred to the new 
company include 100% interests in 
offshore licences at Candarli Bay and in the 
Sea of Marmara and onshore licences at 
Edirne and Siraseki plus an 80% interest  
in an onshore licence at Alasehir. The other 
20% of the Alasehir licence is owned by 
Turkish company, Petrako Petrol Gas and 
Industrial Co. The intention of the partners 
is that the lower risk onshore developments 
at Alasehir and at Edirne will provide early 
oil and gas revenues to enable the company 
to develop the offshore licences, including 
the very exciting prospect at Candarli Bay.

The first well drilled by Extrem, known 
after as Sarikiz-2 was drilled in the Alasehir 
licence area. The Alasehir Basin is a tertiary 
clastic basin located in the XVII-Izmir District 
of South-West Turkey, in an industrial area. 
The basin has a sedimentary succession of 
3,000–4,500m in thickness created by large 
rifting faults and has a geothermal gradient 
that causes early maturation of hot shales. 
The reservoir is lower-middle Miocene 
clastics, which are also thought to provide 
the source. Effective seals are provided by 
bounding faults and clay zones within the 
formation. 

The well was spudded on 31 October  
2008 and drilling was completed to the 
target depth of 1,843m at 1630hrs on  
7 December 2008. Wire line logging and 
pressure testing indicated a producible 
and commercial oil discovery. Following 
completion of the logging procedures,  
23 levels of sandstone were assessed  
to have producible oil. Of these, 12 levels  
with a combined reservoir thickness  
of 75m were selected for subsequent 
production testing. The total reservoir 
thickness encountered greatly exceeded 
the pre-drill estimate of 10m. 

The Sarikiz-2 production test began on 
15 May 2009 and was completed on 
30 July 2009. It took much longer than 
originally expected due to various technical 
complexities that were encountered,  
but it was ultimately successful. The  
well was shut in as a production well  
with commercial production expected  
to commence in the final quarter of 
2009 following construction of the 
necessary surface facilities. Production 
performance from the initial wells will be 
analysed to determine the optimal well 
configuration to drain the structures over 
a reasonable field life of 20–25 years. 
Formal field development plans and 
reserve categorisation will be finalised 
once commercial production has been 
established.

Andy Morrison 
Chief Executive Officer
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Top left
Production testing 
operations at 
Alasehir-1 well site.

Bottom left
Andy Morrison  
and John Newton  
at Sarikiz-2.

In addition to developments at Alasehir, 
Extrem completed technical work on its 
other on-shore licence areas during the  
year with a view to identifying future  
drilling targets. The results from seismic 
and GORE geochemical surveys over 
the Siraseki licence area near the Syrian 
border gave rise to a new prospect called 
Menekselik. The sandstone structure is a 
fault bounded anticline with an estimated 
area of 11.2 square km and an expected 
pay thickness of 30m. 

At Edirne in the Thrace basin of western 
Turkey, a programme of seismic acquisition 
was completed on 9 August 2009. The 
acquisition of GORE geochemical data 
was completed on 19 September 2009. 
The seismic and geochemical data will be 
analysed together to identify drilling targets 
in this well-established gas-bearing zone.  
If successful, these targets will be drill-
ready by early 2010. The area is close  
to existing downstream infrastructure,  
so production can be established quickly  
in the event of success.

In summary, Extrem has developed an 
impressive portfolio of near term production 
potential and highly prospective drill-ready 
targets. The rate of growth of Extrem will 
be governed to a large extent by the speed 
at which production can be brought on 
and at which reserves are confirmed by 
independent experts. 

Elko Energy Inc (Dutch and Danish  
North Sea)
Elko operates the largest offshore 
exploration licence in Denmark with  
an area of 1.3 million acres. The licence 
area offers P50 un-risked net prospective 
resources of 1.8 billion barrels oil or 8.4 Tcf 
of gas (evaluated by Tracs International, 
an independent reservoir engineer, in May 
2008). Elko owns 80% of the licence with 
20% held by a Danish government entity.

In the Netherlands sector of the North Sea, 
Elko operates two gas-bearing exploration 
blocks. Block P1 is located on the southern 
margin of Southern Permian Gas basin and 
covers 51,623 acres. Eight wells have been 
drilled by previous operators. Of these, 
five encountered gas on three separate 
structures. Block P2 is directly adjacent and 
east of Block P1. Elko holds both licences 
which represent a 60% working interest. 
Dutch Government partner Energie Beheer 
Nederland BV (EBN) owns the remaining 
40% working interest.

“ Underpinning our relative confidence 
in the future is our recent investment 
in Turkey, where on-shore appraisal 
and development opportunities offer 
promising rewards for manageable 
levels of financial commitment.”



Xtract Energy plc  Annual Report & Accounts 200910

CEO’s Review 
continued

A National Instrument 51-101 independent 
engineering report was prepared by 
TRACS International during 2008 on the 
hydrocarbon resources contained within 
the P1 and P2 Blocks. The report estimated 
hydrocarbon gas in place at over 250 bcf 
within the Slochteren sandstone with 
additional prospects identified which could 
contain a further 500 bcf.

Progress on the Dutch assets was 
hampered during 2008 by the lack of a joint 
operating agreement and the inability of 
former licence partner Oyster BV to attract 
interest in the intended disposal of its 
holding. This situation became more acute 
with the decline in oil and gas prices and 
the significant deterioration in investment 
conditions in the later part of the year. 

Unfortunately, Elko did not meet its 
objective of making an Initial Public 
Offering and a listing on a recognised stock 
exchange within one year of the December 
2007 pre-IPO fund-raising. Although much 
of the preparatory work was completed, 
Elko’s financial advisors suggested the  
IPO be delayed due to market volatility.  
As equity and debt markets became largely 
inaccessible to small-cap companies, 
attention has turned to finding funding 
partners amongst strategic and industry 
participants.

The disappointing performance of Elko 
in the first part of the year led Xtract to 
review its approach to the investment. 
Whilst recognising the achievements 
of Mr Rudi Kleiber, founder and former 
CEO, in establishing Elko as a promising 
independent operator, Xtract determined 
that a new board at Elko would leave it 
better positioned to advance its attractive 
asset portfolio and bring it to market  
when conditions permitted.

The board changes were brought about  
by a process initiated in December 2008  
by Xtract and DM Bray Capital LLC  
(“DM Bray”), at that time the two largest 
shareholders of Elko who together held 
approximately 48% of the voting interests 
in Elko. Xtract and DM Bray called for the 
replacement of the Board with a new  
slate of directors. 

Top left
Seismic acquisition  
in Edirne licence area.

Bottom left 
Elko’s P1/P2 licence 
blocks in offshore 
Netherlands  
showing discoveries 
and prospects.

Key
  High CO2 discovery
  Low CO2 discovery
  Undrilled prospects
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The Right People
An interview with Peter Moir,  
President and Chief Executive Officer  
of Elko Energy Inc.

Q: When did you join Elko 
and what is your role in the 
Company?

A: I joined Elko in January  
of 2009 and as President  
and CEO my role is to  
provide the leadership and 
direction to develop and grow 
Elko’s business including 
strategy, business plans, 
organizational development, 
risk management and for 
running the business on  
a day to day basis. 

Q: Tell us something about 
your background and 
experience in the energy 
industry.

A: I initially studied for a 
BSc. in Civil Engineering 
followed by a MEng. degree 
in Petroleum Engineering, 
both at Heriot Watt University 
in Edinburgh, Scotland and 
some years later I became 
a UK Chartered Engineer. 
I join Shell International in 
1979 and was assigned to 
the UK offshore sector drilling 
and testing exploration and 
development wells during 
the early growth phase of 
the UK sector. After five 
years I moved on and joined 
British Gas (now BG Group) 
and worked as a petroleum 
production engineer on 
their gas production and gas 
storage fields. My technical 
skills were then broadened 
when I was involved in field 
development studies for 
the large Karachaganak gas 
condensate field onshore  
in Kazakhstan when BG and  
ENI of Italy became joint 
operators of the field. 

In the late 90s I was assigned 
as the VP and Asset General 
Manager for the UK Central 
North Sea with BG, which at 
the time was their biggest 
revenue generating business 
and gave me the opportunity 
to consolidate all my previous 
experience. That experience is 
of course highly relevant to the 
challenges now faced at Elko.

In 2002 I left BG Group and 
became an independent 
Consultant and worked for 
ENI of Italy on the Caspian 
Sea giant Kashagan phase 1 
project. My work here was to 
help bring the field to project 
sanction and to manage 
stakeholder issues.

Q: What made you decide  
to join Elko?

A: After five years on the 
Kashagan project I was ready 
for a new challenge. The gas 
resources in the Netherlands 
which were discovered many 
years ago contain CO2 and 
with current global interest in 
Carbon Capture and Storage 
“CCS” the option to exploit 
these previously stranded 
resources is now technically 
achievable and the political 
climate is ripe for this sort 
of development. There are 
other similar stranded assets 
containing CO2 in the area 
which could be unlocked if  
the Elko vision can be realised 
and that adds an additional 
exciting dimension to our 
position in the Netherlands. 

The very large exploration 
acreage we have in Denmark 
is a further exciting and 
intriguing opportunity.  
An exploration play of this 
magnitude always carries  
risk but it is offset by the  
size of the potential reward. 

Q: What do you consider the 
main achievements of Elko 
since you joined?

A: I would say the management 
team, with the support of the 
new board, has progressed the 
various de-risking studies for 
Netherlands assets, selecting 
an appraisal well location and 
achieving greater clarity on 
the alternative development 
scenarios. In Denmark the 
new design of simpler low 
cost wells should assist in 
making the prospects more 
attractive to potential partners 
and significantly improves the 
reward to risk ratio.

Q: What has gone less well 
than expected?

A: Capital markets have 
remained constrained despite 
financial stimulus from various 
governments and this has 
slowed progress generally in  
our capital intensive industry.  
I notice decision making within 
the industry is obviously much 
tougher and taking longer.  
At Elko we are balancing the 
need to preserve our cash 
whilst only spending on high 
value adding work needed to 
progress our quality assets. 

Q: What have you learned so 
far that may be of use in the 
future?

A: Trying to understand the 
business environment of other 
companies and partners is  
very important at present and 
you have to carefully validate  
all business assumptions. 
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The Right Investment Strategy
MEO, Australia: An investment story 
from start to finish

a high of A$1.39 per share in 
July 2007 to a low of A$0.16  
per share in June 2009. 

Subsequent to the end of the 
financial period, the remaining 
14.4 million of the Company’s 
shares were sold at an average 
price of A$0.49 per share.

Commenting on the Group’s 
investment in MEO, Chief 
Executive Andy Morrison said, 
“MEO made some promising 
gas discoveries in the Timor 
Sea in 2008 but did not yet 
hit the ‘home run’ that we 
originally hoped for. Despite this, 
it has been a very successful 
investment for Xtract. The 
proceeds of the sales of MEO 
have provided us with working 
capital and the opportunity to 
offer development support to 
other investee companies.” 

Xtract’s investment in MEO 
has left the Group in its current, 
promising position. We wish 
MEO well as it continues to 
develop its business. 

Xtract Energy’s investment  
in MEO Australia Ltd  
(“MEO”) is an example of  
a successful implementation 
of the company’s strategy 
of profiting from early stage 
energy sector projects with 
significant growth potential. 
This is done by nurturing 
the investee companies 
themselves and through the 
use of profits which such 
projects provide to fund other 
developments.

MEO is an Australian listed 
company that is focused on 
off-shore gas exploration and 
developing gas-to-liquids (GTL) 
projects in the Australian waters 
of the Timor Sea. Since first 
investing in MEO in July 2006 to 
help finance three-dimensional 
seismic acquisition over the 
Timor Sea prospects, Xtract 
Energy has seen MEO’s share 
price oscillate significantly 
according to the fortunes of the 
company and market sentiment. 

The gradual sale of the entire 
Company’s holding, 80.6 million 
shares over the past three  
years at an average price of 
A$0.47 per share, has generated 
a pre-tax profit of £9.59 million, 
representing a return of 124% 
on the initial investment and 
thereby demonstrating our 
ability to deliver superior returns 
from our portfolio management 
strategy and our ability to deliver 
a successful exit. Over the 
period sales were made at  

MEO rig leaving Darwin.

# shares sold 
during period

Shareholding at 
end of period

Average  
price per  

share sold, A$

Profit (i.e. Capital 
Gain before CGT) 

GBP £
Return for  

the period, %

Cumulative  
return from  

day 1, %

Year ended 30 June 2008 21,460,000 59,147,814 1.0264 7,476,094 366.96% 96.85%

Year ended 30 June 2009 44,772,185 14,375,629 0.1999 (22,894) (0.53%) 96.56%

Subsequent to 30 June 2009 14,375,629 – 0.4920 2,138,959 154.89% 124.27%

Day 1 to date 80,607,814 – 0.4720 9,592,158 124.27% 124.27%
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As a result of the changes, Andy Morrison 
remained a director of Elko and was  
joined on the Elko Board by fellow Xtract 
Director, Mr John Conlon and DM Bray 
nominee Mr Jack Bray. Former Elko 
Chairman, Jeremy Kane agreed to remain 
as an independent non-executive director 
for a temporary period to continue to 
represent the interests of the minority 
shareholders. The board changes  
were aimed at increasing alignment  
of Elko’s strategy with the interests  
of all shareholders. 

In January 2009, Elko confirmed the 
appointment of a new President and Chief 
Executive Officer, Mr Peter Moir with effect 
from 26 January 2009. 

The new board got to work quickly. Elko 
completed the acquisition of Oyster Energy 
BV on 19 February 2009, increasing Elko’s 
combined working interest in Netherlands 
Blocks P1 and P2 from 33% to 60%. The 
acquisition of Oyster resolved the previous 
lack of a joint operating agreement and 
enabled Elko to proactively progress the 
development and marketing of the Dutch 
assets.

During the first quarter of 2009, an 
integrated block development concept for 
the discoveries and prospects on Blocks P1 
and P2 was prepared. The concept provided 
for the offshore removal and underground 
storage of CO2 contained in gas within the 
P1/P2 discoveries. The geology, geophysical 
and reservoir engineering definitions were 
further developed to create an outline  
field development plan and to pin-point  
an appraisal well location.

Discussions with offshore facilities and 
pipeline infrastructure owners identified  
a number of options for the offshore 
removal and storage of CO2 and the  
onward transportation of sales gas to 
European markets. A number of potential 
new financing partners have been  
identified to replace Oyster via a farm  
out of a percentage of Elko’s working 
interest in Blocks P1 and P2. Partnering 
discussions continue in parallel with 
discussion with infrastructure owners.

After the reporting period on 26 August 
2009, Elko and its subsidiary Dragon  
Energy Inc (“Dragon”) signed an overriding 
royalty agreement whereby Elko will benefit 
from a 2.5% overriding royalty from future 
revenues from the Kotaneelee field, over  
a maximum term of five years capped at an 
aggregate value of C$750,000. In exchange 
Elko returned to Dragon 15,600,000 
common shares representing its 51% 
ownership and Jack Bray, Peter Moir and 
Andy Morrison resigned from the board  
of Dragon.

Dragon holds a 30.667% working interest 
in the Kotaneelee field in the Yukon 
Territory, Canada operated by Devon Energy 
Corp. Gas production at Kotaneelee is in 
decline and gas prices in North America 
are depressed resulting in a significantly 
weakened revenue stream from current 
production levels. The disposal of Dragon 
eliminated a potential liability from Elko’s 
balance sheet.

In Denmark, enhanced seismic processing 
of the Chalk prospects was undertaken. 
The results are part of a marketing initiative 
aimed at securing an additional financing 
partner or partners. Elko has designed a low 
cost exploration drilling initiative that will 
further de-risk its future work on the Danish 
asset. These plans have been favourably 
received by its Danish state partner and 
the Danish Energy Agency because of the 
lower risk scenario they offer as Elko aims 
to exploit the asset’s exceptionally high 
potential.

Whilst much has been achieved by the 
new Elko board, the company remains 
in a challenging situation. Its projects are 
attractive, but capital-intensive. Financing 
discussions are advanced, but there can  
be no assurance that these will ultimately 
lead to definitive arrangements. It is hoped 
to unlock the assets and enable them to  
be taken forward through the exploration 
and appraisal phases thereby adding 
significant intrinsic value to the portfolio. 
In managing its investment in Elko, Xtract 
drives for its success whilst at the same 
time preparing for alternative scenarios.

MEO Australia Ltd (Australia)
At the beginning of the reporting period, 
MEO Australia Ltd (“MEO”) had formed 
a strategic alliance with Resource 
Development International (“RDI”)  
whereby RDI farmed into WA-361-P for  
a 35% interest by funding 80% of the 
Zeus-1 well and was granted options to 
participate in MEO’s remaining projects.

The global financial market downturn in 
late 2008 caused a deferral of the planned 
IPO of RDI. As a result, RDI was unable to 
exercise its options to farm-in to WA-359-P 
and WA-360-P by December 1 and  
they lapsed. RDI’s options in relation to 
MEO’s Timor Sea Projects also lapsed  
on 31 December 2008. MEO secured  
a 12 month extension to drill/drop options 
on WA-359-P and WA-360-P which were 
originally due to expire 1 January 2009  
and negotiated variations to the work 
programs with the Designated Authority.

The Zeus-1 well spudded on 17 January 
2009. An MDT formation pressure testing 
program confirmed the primary objective 
sands to be water bearing and the well 
was plugged and abandoned in February 
2009. While the results from Zeus-1 were 
disappointing, MEO remains optimistic 
that its North West Shelf acreage has 
the potential to host substantial gas 
accumulations adjacent to existing and 
planned LNG infrastructure.

In May 2009, the Federal Government 
renewed Major Project Facilitation status 
for the Tassie Shoal Methanol and the 
Timor Sea LNG Projects. Tassie Shoal is an 
area of shallow water in Australian waters 
about 275 km north-west of Darwin with 
significant undeveloped gas fields within  
a 150 km radius. 

As noted in the Chairman’s statement, 
Xtract had largely exited its position in 
MEO by the end of the year and has 
now completed that manoeuvre. Whilst 
we continued to have confidence in the 
prospects for MEO, we decided to focus 
our resources on our investment in Extrem. 
We believe that Extrem offers a stable 
growth platform and one which can only 
be accessed by market investors through 
participation in Xtract.

CEO’s Review 
continued
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CEO’s Review 
continued

Zhibek Resources Ltd (Kyrgyzstan)
In October 2008, Xtract and Santos 
International Holdings Pty Ltd (“Santos”),  
a subsidiary of Santos Ltd, Australia’s 
second largest oil and gas company entered 
a farm-in agreement in relation to Xtract’s 
wholly-owned subsidiary, Zhibek Resources 
Limited (“Zhibek”). Santos assumed 
operatorship and control of Zhibek.

Under the agreement, Santos is funding 
up to US$8.5 million of Zhibek’s near-term 
exploration programme, which includes  
a 2D seismic programme over the  
Tash Kumyr and Pishkaran licence areas  
in the Fergana basin area in the Kyrgyz 
Republic, to earn a 75% interest in  
Zhibek. The seismic acquisition programme 
commenced in November 2008 and was 
completed in February 2009. Analysis  
and interpretation are in progress. If the 
seismic results are in line with expectations, 
a well is planned for 2010. Zhibek has  
now dropped the Pishkaran licence in  
order to focus on Tash Kumyr.

Xtract retains representation on the 
Board of Zhibek and will contribute up to 
US$1.5 million to Zhibek’s funding in the 
latter stages of the current exploration 
programme and may contribute to Zhibek’s 
future exploration and development 
programs.

As part of re-arranging its Central 
Asian investments, commitments, and 
staffing, Xtract ceased its involvement in 
development of a water injection project at 
the Beshkent-Togap oil field in Kyrgyzstan. 
Wholly owned subsidiary Zhibek Oil and 
Gas Ltd was closed and de-registered.

Oil shale
Julia Creek, Queensland, Australia
In August 2008, the Queensland Premier 
announced a 20-year moratorium on a 
proposed oil shale development in the 
Whitsunday coastal region, and a 2-year 
review period for oil shale developments 
throughout the state during which no 
new mining activity would be permitted. 
Although the mineral rights of Xtract’s 
100% subsidiary Xtract Oil Ltd (“XOL”) in 
Queensland were not affected, the review 
created uncertainty over the extraction  
of the underlying oil shale.

Top right
MEO’s north west 
shelf licence blocks 
in Australia, showing 
Zeus-1 well location  
and Artemis prospect.

Bottom right
Aerial view over 
Xtract’s oil shale 
tenements in 
Queensland, 
Australia, showing 
location of Julia  
Creek Township.

Key
  MDL Application Area
  Julia Creek Township
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In December 2008, XOL held a meeting 
with representatives of the Queensland 
government to present the progress of 
XOL’s technology and to understand the 
proposed review process. The response to 
the technical progress was encouraging but 
the government representatives were not 
able to give much further information about 
the review process or its likely impact. 
Under these circumstances, Xtract took 
the decision to scale back significantly its 
projected investment in the development  
of oil shale technology.

Prior to scaling back Julia Creek activities, 
laboratory testing had provided indicative 
temperature and pressure conditions  
for generation of oil using natural gas  
as a source of both hydrogen and heat.  
A scoping study, which was based on 
the results of tests completed before the 
Government announced its policy review, 
indicated that a commercial project based 
on XOL’s technology could be feasible.

XOL continues to maintain mineral rights 
over its 2.12 billion barrels of indicated  
and inferred resources at Julia Creek.  
By maintaining the mineral rights at limited 
cash expense, Xtract retains the option 
to exploit the resource when investment 
conditions are more supportive.

Tarfaya, Morocco and Nevis Valley,  
New Zealand
In September 2008, the company 
announced the creation of a joint venture  
in Morocco with Alraed Limited Investment 
Holding Company WLL, a company 
controlled by His Highness, Prince Bandar 
Bin Mohd. Bin Abdulrahman Al-Saud of 
Saudi Arabia. This was the culmination 
of discussions that had lasted several 
months. The joint venture company, Xtract 
Energy (Oil Shale) Morocco SA, went on 
to sign a Memorandum of Understanding 
with the Moroccan Office National des 
Hydrocarbures et des Mines (“ONHYM”) 
for the purposes of evaluation and possible 
development of an oil shale deposit near 
Tarfaya, in the south west part of Morocco. 
Xtract holds 70% of the joint venture.

Following the decision in December  
to hibernate work on Xtract’s proprietary 
technology in Australia and in light of  
market turmoil and falling oil prices,  
no significant work was done by the  
joint venture during the reporting period.  
A decision as to whether to conduct  
an initial pre-feasibility study is pending.  
Since July 2009, investment conditions 
have started to improve and it is hoped  
that work can begin during the current 
financial year. 

The Company’s oil shale tenements in 
the Nevis Valley in New Zealand were 
relinquished. 

Other interests
Until the end of the period, Xtract continued 
to hold approximately 12.1% of Wasabi 
Energy Ltd (“Wasabi”), a diversified 
investor in traditional and renewable energy 
technologies. As part of its drive to simplify 
its portfolio and to focus on its oil and gas 
interests, Xtract sold its entire remaining 
interest in Wasabi during September 2009.

In Mexico, Xtract maintained its ownership 
of Sermines Inc and its licence portfolio of 
gold exploration properties. No significant 
operational activity was undertaken during 
the year.

Dated: 13 November 2009

Andy Morrison 
Chief Executive Officer
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Financial Review

Income statement analysis
The Group reported a net loss after tax  
from continuing operations of £16,807,000 
(2008: profit £23,000) and basic loss 
per share of 2.24p (2008: 0.00p). The 
Group reported a net loss after tax from 
discontinued and continuing operations  
of £18,101,000 (2008: £788,000) and basic 
and diluted loss per share of 2.41p (2008: 
basic and diluted loss per share of 0.11p).

During the year Xtract has disposed of  
44.8 million shares held in MEO Australia 
Limited (MEO) for the total amount  
of A$8.89 million after brokerage. Losses 
totalling £9.3 million were recognised in the 
year from the disposal, due to the decline  
in share price of MEO Australia Limited 
which has moved from A$0.495 at 30 
June 2008 to an average of A$0.20 price 
of disposal during the year. A deferred tax 
liability has crystallised on disposal of MEO 
shares during the year with the credit to  
the Income statement of £2.67 million.

A £9.43 million loss resulted from 
the writing down of Intangible assets 
representing Mining and Exploration rights 
in Xtract Oil International related to the 
Group’s oil shale projects which have been 
suspended in the year. 

Share of results of associates amounted 
to loss of £1.43 million being recognised, 
primarily related to the share of the results 
of Elko Energy of £1.41 million loss. 

Administrative and operating expenses 
amounted to £2.10 million for the year 
(2008: £2.89 million).

Acquisition and investment activity
In Turkey, under the terms of the 
agreement with Merty Energy (“Merty”), 
we created a Turkish company, Extrem 
Energy A.S. (“Extrem”) in which Xtract  
and Merty initially held 20% and 80% 
interests respectively. Xtract invested 
US$5.0 million to fund Extrem’s initial 
work programme and Merty applied for 
the transfer of a portfolio of seven licence 
interests into Extrem. On 30 June 2009, 
Xtract exercised its option to increase  
its share-holding in the new company  
to 27% by contributing a second tranche  
of US$1.75 million, though these funds 
were received in Extrem only on 3 July 
2009 and therefore as at 30 June 2009 
Xtract share in Extrem still remains at  
20%. As at 30 June 2009 US$739,376  
was transferred by Xtract to Turkey for  
the drilling programme.

Due to the status of the contractual 
arrangements at 30 June 2009, £1.46 
million of the amount has been recognised 
as an associate with the remaining £2.76 
million recognised as a payment in advance 
pending finalisation of the transfer of  
the remaining two licences into Extrem.

In October 2008, Xtract and Santos 
International Holdings Pty Ltd (“Santos”) 
entered a farm-in agreement in relation to 
Xtract’s wholly-owned subsidiary, Zhibek 
Resources Limited (“Zhibek”). Santos 
assumed operatorship and 75% control of 
Zhibek. These arrangements significantly 
reduced overall cash burn for the Group.  
As a result, Zhibek is now recognised as  
an associate of the Group.

The sale of 44.8 million shares in MEO 
Australia at an average price of A$0.20 per 
share reduced Xtract’s holding during the 
period to 14,375,629 shares, representing 
approximately 3.44% of MEO’s issued 
equity.

During the year Xtract’s holding in Wasabi 
was reduced to approximately to 12% 
of Wasabi’s total issued share capital, 
representing about 166 million Wasabi 
shares, as the result of Xtract’s non-
participation in Wasabi’s rights issue.

The Group’s investment in MEO Australia 
and Wasabi amounted to £3,003,206 at  
the year end, classified within available  
for sale investments.

During the financial year, the Company 
acquired 3,825,000 shares in an AIM-listed 
company, Rheochem Plc, for £589,873, 
at the year end the market value of this 
investment was £211,750.

Xtract’s holding in Elko Energy slightly 
decreased over the period to approximately 
35.03% of issued capital due to dilution  
from 275,000 options exercised and 
2,525,000 shares purchased by third 
parties. The Group investment in Elko is 
included in the investments in associates, 
amounting to £3,705,484.

On 23 July 2008, Xtract established a  
joint venture company with Alraed Limited 
Investment Holding Company WLL, to 
evaluate and develop oil shale projects  
in Morocco. Xtract has a 70% ownership 
stake in the joint venture. The joint venture 
company, Xtract Energy (Oil Shale) Morocco  
SA, signed on 29 July 2008 a Memorandum 
of Understanding with the Office National 
des Hydrocarbures et des Mines in 
Morocco for the purposes of evaluation 
and possible development of an oil shale 
deposit near Tarfaya, in south west 
Morocco.

Income tax
Current income tax liabilities of £3.74 
million at 30 June 2009 relate to estimated 
Australian corporate gain tax payable on 
MEO, Aviva and Wasabi share and option 
disposals.

Cash position 
The Group’s net cash position was £3.18 
million with no borrowings outstanding  
at 30 June 2009.

£3.18m
The Group’s net cash position at  
30 June 2009.

36.81% 
Xtract has acquired additional Elko 
shares increasing its holding in the 
company to approximately 36.81%.
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Going concern 
The Group is not currently generating 
revenues from its operations, and its 
forecasts and projections show that it 
would not have sufficient cash to make 
further investments in its existing and new 
projects in line with the Group’s strategy 
as well as settle its current liabilities when 
due and meet its ongoing overheads 
without gaining access to additional 
funds. The Group continues to manage 
its investments as a portfolio, seeking to 
dispose of investments, bring in strategic 
partners and raise funds as appropriate 
to finance its obligations and to fund 
new investments. Management plans to 
address the Group’s funding requirements 
through a combination of these measures. 
Management believes that it will be able 
to manage the Group’s liquidity position 
successfully, but at this stage there is 
no committed transaction which would 
address the Group’s cash requirements.

The directors have concluded that,  
given that the general economic climate 
remains challenging, these circumstances 
represent a material uncertainty that  
casts significant doubt upon the Group’s 
and the Company’s ability to continue as 
a going concern and that, therefore, the 
Company may be unable to realise its 
assets and discharge its liabilities in the 
normal course of business. Nevertheless 
after making enquiries, and considering  
the uncertainties above, the directors  
have a reasonable expectation that the 
Group and the Company have adequate 
resources to continue in operational 
existence for the foreseeable future.  
For these reasons, they continue to adopt 
the going concern basis in preparing the 
annual report and financial statements. 

Subsequent events
Investment in Extrem Energy
On 5 August 2009, Xtract exercised its 
option to increase its share-holding in 
Extrem Energy to 34% by contributing  
a third and final optional tranche of  
US$1.75 million. A further US$1.03  
million was transferred by Xtract to  
Extrem Energy as Xtract’s 34% share  
of participation in the drilling programme  
in Turkey.

Investment in Elko
In August 2009, Xtract has acquired an 
additional 1.775 million Elko shares, by 
exchanging 26,625,000 Wasabi shares  
for Elko shares, increasing its holding in  
the company to approximately 36.81%.

Investment in MEO
By 7 August 2009, Xtract had disposed of 
its entire MEO holdings at an average price 
of A$0.49 for the total amount of A$7.00 
million after brokerage.

Investment in Wasabi
As part of its drive to simplify its portfolio 
and to focus on its oil and gas interests, 
Xtract sold its entire remaining interest  
in Wasabi during September 2009 at  
A$0.011 per share for A$1.38 million  
after brokerage.

Directors’ interests
On 14 August 2009 options were issued 
to all Directors according to the schedule 
set out below. All of these options are 
exercisable from the date of grant at an 
exercise price of 5.0 pence per share and 
expire on the third anniversary of the date 
of grant.

Andy Morrison 6,300,000

John Newton 3,360,000

Mark Nichols  360,000

Rob Annells 360,000

Sue Wickerson 360,000

John Conlon 360,000

Financial Summary Table
Year ended 

30 June 2009 
(£m)

Year ended
30 June 2008  

(£m)

Consolidated income result (for the year)  
from continuing operations

Administrative and operating expenses 2.10 2.89

Other (losses)/gains (18.81) 5.34

(Loss)/profit after tax (16.81) 0.02

(Loss)/earnings per share (2.24p) 0.00p

Consolidated balance sheet position (as at)

Intangible assets – Mining rights & exploration expenditure – 10.49

Investments – in associates 5.62 3.90

Financial Assets 3.21 15.96

Cash 3.18 6.36

Total assets 16.11 39.82

Total equity 11.87 30.08

Total equity – number of issued shares (million) 751,765,026 
shares

751,765,026 
shares

Listed portfolio information (as at 30 June 2009)  
at Market Value

£million

MEO Australia (ASX:MEO) 14,375,629 
shares

1.78 

Wasabi Energy (ASX:WAS) 166,489,286 
shares

1.22 

Rheochem Plc (AIM:RHEP) 3,825,000 
shares

0.21 

Total market value of portfolio 3.21
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The directors present their report together with the financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2009.

Principal activities and business review
Xtract Energy identifies and invests in a portfolio of early stage oil and gas businesses with very significant growth potential. We aim to 
work closely with the associated management teams to achieve critical project milestones, to finance later development stages and to 
build and crystallise value for all shareholders and partners.

A detailed review of the business of the Group during the year and an indication of likely further developments may be found in the 
Chairman’s Statement, (page 2) the CEO’s Review (page 8) and the Finance Review (page 16). The directors are pleased with the progress 
to date.

Risks and uncertainties are discussed below.

Results and dividends
The net loss from continuing operations for the Group for the year ended 30 June 2009 amounts to £16,807,000 (profit from continuing 
operations for 12 months ended 30 June 2008: £23,000).

No dividends were paid or proposed by the Directors in either the current or previous periods.

Investment policy
The investment policy of Xtract Energy is to identify and invest in a portfolio of early stage energy sector businesses and projects with  
very significant growth potential. We generally engage actively with the associated management teams to build and crystallise shareholder 
value through critical technical inputs, board-level experience and the application of corporate finance expertise. We aim to achieve returns 
for our shareholders through the capital growth of our investments.

The Directors evaluate new investment opportunities from time to time and may engage the Company in additional businesses and 
projects in conventional and non-conventional fields such as oil shale. Opportunities considered may be greenfield and/or involve the 
acquisition of or participation in already existing businesses which may be quoted or unquoted. Due to the typically active nature of our 
engagement with investee companies, we expect that our portfolio will continue to be focused on a relatively limited number of significant 
investments rather than being very broadly spread.

Performance
The key indication of performance of the Group is the extent of its success in identifying, acquiring, progressing and divesting investments 
in projects so as to build shareholder value. At this stage in its development, the Group’s performance is not readily measured using 
quantitative key performance indicators, however, a qualitative summary of performance in the period is provided in the Chairman’s 
Statement and CEO’s Review.

Substantial interests in share capital 
Since the Disclosure and Transparency Rules of the FSA (the ‘DTR’) came into force, the Company has been notified or is aware of the 
following significant holdings (over 3%) of voting rights in its shares:

Shareholder Number of shares % of issued Capital

Cambrian Investment Holdings Limited 340,256,048 45.26

Lynchwood Nominees Limited 69,935,797 9.30

Cambrian Investment Holdings Limited is a wholly owned subsidiary of Western Coal Corporation which is headquartered in Vancouver, 
Canada and listed on AIM and TSX.

Capital structure
Details of the authorised and issued share capital, together with details of the movements in the company’s issued share capital during the 
year are shown in note 20. The company has one class of ordinary shares which carry no right to fixed income. Each share carries the right 
to one vote at general meetings of the company.

There are no specific restrictions on the size of holding nor the transfer of shares, which are both governed by the general provisions of 
the Articles of Association and prevailing legislation. The directors are not aware of any agreements between holders of the company’s 
shares that may result in restrictions on the transfer of securities or on voting rights.

No person has any special rights of control over the company’s share capital and all issued shares are fully paid.

With regard to the appointment and replacement of directors, the company is governed by its Articles of Association, the Companies Act 
and related legislation. The Articles themselves may be amended by special resolution of the share holders. The powers of directors are 
described in the Articles of Association and the Corporate Governance Statement on page 23.

Under its Articles of Association, the Company has authority to issue up to 2,000,000,000 ordinary shares. Pursuant to the Companies Act 
2006 and with effect from 1 October 2009, the requirement for a company to have an authorised share capital has been abolished and  
the new Articles which the Company is proposing to adopt at the AGM reflect this. The Directors will still be limited as to the number  
of shares they can at any time allot because allotment authority continues to be required under the Companies Act 2006.

Directors’ Report
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Directors
The names and biographical details of the Directors are set out below. Robert Annells was appointed on 11 November 2004, Susan 
Wickerson on 9 November 2004, John Newton on 10 March 2006, John Conlon on 4 January 2007, Andy Morrison on 9 July 2007,  
and Mark Nichols on 15 January 2008.

Andy Morrison, aged 48, Chief Executive Officer (Nominations Committee member)
Mr Morrison has over 25 years experience in the energy and related services sectors, most recently with BOC Group as a Group 
Director for New Business Development. Prior to BOC, Andy was employed by BG Group and Shell in various strategic and business 
development roles.

John Newton, aged 62, Executive Chairman 
John Newton has a background in international stockbroking, accounting and corporate finance and has been a director of a number of 
quoted companies in Australia and Canada. He has maintained a continued involvement in the Australian and International financial sector 
as an investment adviser and consultant.

Robert J. Annells CPA, ASIA, aged 69, Non-executive Director (Remuneration and Audit Committee Member)
Mr Annells is a qualified accountant and was a member of the Australian Stock Exchange. His experience includes extensive provision 
of corporate investment advice to the business and resource industries. Mr Annells is a director of the emerging Australian petroleum 
and mineral resource companies Rum Jungle Uranium Ltd and Greenearth Energy Ltd and Chairman of Lakes Oil N.L. and Minotaur 
Exploration Ltd, which are quoted on the Australian Stock Exchange.

Susan Wickerson, aged 61, Non-executive Director (Remuneration, Nominations and Audit Committee Member)
Miss Wickerson spent 15 years with a medium size accounting practice, setting up and running both a new registrars division and a 
management services company. For the last 20 years, Miss Wickerson has been running her own successful company which provides 
accounting and taxation services, company secretarial and financial management services to a wide range of clients, both corporate and 
private. Miss Wickerson acts as a finance director of various non-listed companies.

John Conlon, aged 69, Non-executive Director
Mr John Conlon has been involved in the mining industry since 1972, when he formed Webcon Equipment Inc, a company that 
supplies milling and mobile equipment worldwide. In 1980, he purchased a part share in Graham Mining, a mining contracting company 
involved in mine development in northern Canada. In 1995 he formed Driftech Inc, a company engaged in the business of repairs and 
manufacturing mining equipment. Mr Conlon is a director of several companies including Western Canadian Coal Corporation and 
Cambrian Mining Plc.

Mark Nichols, aged 52, Non-executive Director (Remuneration and Audit Committee Member)
Mark James Nichols is a qualified accountant who has over 20 years’ experience in the energy and chemicals sectors, with the major 
French oil company Total S.A. and with BOC Group Plc respectively. His most recent executive position was as Director of Strategy  
for Laing O’Rourke, the privately-owned construction firm. In addition to his role at Xtract Energy, Mark acts as a business consultant  
to a number of enterprises.

Directors’ remuneration
The Company remunerates the directors at a level commensurate with the size of the Company and the experience of its directors. 
The Remuneration Committee consists of Robert Annells, Susan Wickerson and Mark Nichols. They have reviewed the directors’ 
remuneration and believe it upholds the objectives of the Company.

The remuneration paid to the directors of the Company for the 12 month period ended 30 June 2009 was £330,405 (12 month period 
ended 30 June 2008: £332,361). The remuneration consists of directors fees of £313,500 and £16,905 of pension contributions for  
Andy Morrison and John Newton. The remuneration for the highest paid Director for the year ended 30 June 2009 was £168,525.  
Bonus of £75,000 accrued in the year ended 30 June 2008 was paid to CEO Andy Morrison in August 2008.

With effect from 1 July 2009 the following remuneration was agreed with the directors:

Director
Annual salary

from 1 July 2009
Annual salary

 to 30 June 2009

Robert Annells £18,000 £18,000

Andy Morrison £157,500 £157,500

Sue Wickerson £18,000 £18,000

John Newton £84,000 £84,000

John Conlon £18,000 £18,000

Mark Nichols £18,000 £18,000

As at the date of this Director’s Report, there has been no change in the fees set out above. In addition the directors hold options as set 
out in the statement of Directors’ Interests. 
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Directors’ indemnities 
The Company maintains directors’ and officers’ liability insurance which gives appropriate cover for legal action brought against its 
directors. The Company has also provided an indemnity for its directors, which is a qualifying third party indemnity provision for the 
purposes of section 309B of the Companies Act 1985.

Directors’ service contracts
Directors’ contracts are continuous unless terminated (or run for an initial 12 months in respect of John Newton from 10 March 2006, 
John Conlon from 4 January 2007, and Andy Morrison from 9 July 2007) and continue until terminated by either party upon 1 months’ 
notice (6 months’ notice for John Newton, and 12 months’ notice for Andy Morrison). In accordance with the Company’s Articles,  
at forthcoming Annual General Meetings at least one third of the directors are required to resign by rotation.

Directors’ interests
The directors who held office at 30 June 2009 have the following interests in the Company:

30 June 2009 30 June 2008

Ordinary Shares Warrants Ordinary Shares Warrants/Options

Andy Morrison1 – 3,000,000 – 3,000,000

Robert Annells – 500,000 – 3,000,000

John Conlon – 1,000,000 – 1,000,000

Sue Wickerson – 500,000 – 2,250,000

John Newton2 – 500,000 – 2,250,000

Mark Nichols3 2,270,000 750,000 170,000 750,000

1  Additionally as at 30 June 2009 Andy Morrison’s Self Invested Personal Pension fund held 2,000,000 ordinary shares representing 
approximately 0.27 per cent. of the Company’s issued ordinary share capital.

2  John Newton is a trustee and beneficiary of Drawone Superannuation Fund which holds 18,000,000 ordinary shares representing  
2.39 per cent of the Company’s issued ordinary share capital. 

3  During the year Mark Nichols acquired 2,100,000 ordinary shares in the Company. An additional 650,000 ordinary shares were 
purchased on 7 July 2009, taking his total holding to 2,920,000 shares representing approximately 0.39 per cent of the Company’s 
issued ordinary share capital.

The movement in directors interest during the year was due to an expiry of the options issued on 24 March 2005 and 24 November 
2006. No Director had any interest in any of the Company’s subsidiaries at the beginning (or if later, the date of their appointment)  
or end of the reporting period.

Further details of the options in the Company can be found in note 20 of the Accounts.

On 14 August 2009 options were issued to all Directors according to the schedule set out below. All of these options are exercisable 
from the date of grant at an exercise price of 5.0 pence per share and expire on the third anniversary of the date of grant.

Andy Morrison 6,300,000

John Newton 3,360,000

Mark Nichols 360,000

Rob Annells 360,000

Sue Wickerson 360,000

John Conlon 360,000

Corporate governance
A statement on Corporate Governance is set out on page 23.

Environmental responsibility
The Company recognises that the Group’s exploration and development activities require it to have regard to the potential impact that 
it and its subsidiary companies may have on the environment. Wherever possible, the Company ensures that all related companies are 
encouraged to comply with the local regulatory requirements with regard to the environment.

Directors’ Report
continued
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Risks and uncertainties
The principal risks facing the Company are set out below. Risk assessment and evaluation is an essential part of the Group’s planning  
and an important aspect of the Group’s internal control system.

General and economic risks:
•  contractions in the world economies or increases in the rate of inflation resulting from international conditions; movements in the 

equity and share markets in Australia, the United Kingdom and throughout the world; 
•  movements in global equity and share markets and changes in market sentiment towards the resource industry;
•  currency exchange rate fluctuations and, in particular, the relative prices of the Australian dollar, US dollar, Turkish Lira and the  

UK Pound; 
•  adverse changes in factors affecting the success of exploration and development operations, such as increases in expenses, changes 

in government policy and further regulation of the industry; unforeseen major failure, breakdowns or repairs required to key items 
of plant and equipment resulting in significant delays, notwithstanding regular programs of repair, maintenance and upkeep; and 
unforeseen adverse geological factors or prolonged weather conditions.

Funding risk:
•  Xtract Energy or the companies in which it has invested may not be able to raise, either by debt or further equity, sufficient funds  

to enable completion of planned exploration, investment and/or development projects.

Commodity risk:
•  Commodities are subject to high levels of volatility in price and demand. The price of commodities depends on a wide range of factors, 

most of which are outside the control of the Company. Production costs depend on a wide range of factors, including commodity 
prices, capital and operating costs in relation to any operational site. 

Exploration and development risks:
•  Exploration and development activity is subject to numerous risks, including failure to achieve estimated mineral resource, recovery 

and production rates and capital and operating costs.
•  Success in identifying economically recoverable reserves can never be guaranteed. The Company also cannot guarantee that the 

companies in which it has invested will be able to obtain the necessary permits and approvals required for development of their 
projects.

•  Some of the countries in which the Company operates have native title law which could affect exploration activities. The companies 
in which the Company has an interest may be required to undertake clean-up programs resulting from any contamination from their 
operations or to participate in site rehabilitation programs which may vary from country-to-country. The Group’s policy is to follow all 
necessary laws and regulations and is not aware of any present material issues in this regard.

Internal controls 
The Board recognises the importance of both financial and non-financial controls and has reviewed the Company’s control environment 
and any related shortfalls during the year. The Company has undergone, and continues to undergo, significant expansion and 
development which requires commensurate and ongoing development in the Company’s financial reporting procedures and internal 
controls. Whilst they are aware that no system can provide absolute assurance against material misstatement or loss, continuing reviews 
of internal controls will be undertaken to ensure that adequate internal controls are implemented and that they operate effectively.

Relations with shareholders 
The Board is committed to providing effective communication with the shareholders of the Company, with significant developments 
disseminated through stock exchange announcements. The Board see the annual general meeting as a forum for communication 
between the Company and its shareholders and encourages their participation in its agenda.

Going concern
A review of the Group’s going concern position is included in the Financial Review on page 16 and in note 26.

Creditor payment policy 
It is the Company’s policy to settle the terms of payment with suppliers when agreeing the terms of the transaction so as to ensure  
that suppliers and the Company are aware of those terms and abide by them. The number of days’ purchases outstanding for payment 
by the Group at the year end was 30.

Political and charitable donations
No political contributions or donations for political purposes or charitable donations were made during the period.

General meeting
The Company will hold a general meeting by the end of December 2009 to lay the annual accounts before the shareholders and to deal 
with any other business for the consideration of the shareholders. The Company will distribute due notice of the meeting with full details 
of the business to be considered at that meeting.
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Auditors
Each of the persons who is a director at the date of approval of this Annual Report confirms that:
• so far as the director is aware, there is no relevant audit information of which the company’s auditors are unaware; and
•  the director has taken all the steps that he/she ought to have taken as a director in order to make himself/herself aware of any relevant 

audit information and to establish that the company’s auditors are aware of that information.

This confirmation is given and should be interpreted in accordance with the provisions of s234ZA of the Companies Act 1985.

Deloitte LLP have expressed their willingness to continue in office as the auditors and a resolution to reappoint them will be proposed at 
the next Extraordinary General Meeting of the Company.

By Order of the Board   
Dated: 13 November 2009

Andrew Morrison 
Chief Executive Officer

Directors’ Report
continued
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The Board recognises the importance of sound corporate governance commensurate with the size of the Company and the interests 
of shareholders. The Company is not required to comply with the Combined Code on Corporate Governance issued by the Financial 
Reporting Council. However as the Company grows, the Directors intend that it should develop policies and procedures which reflect  
the Combined Code so far as is practicable, taking into account the size and nature of the Company.

The Board of Directors
The Board of Directors currently comprises six members, two executive directors and four non-executive directors including the 
Executive Chairman, Mr John Newton. The Directors have significant experience in the evaluation, acquisition and development of 
mineral and energy resource projects and the management of such investments, quoted and unquoted, both in the UK and overseas.

Board meetings 
The Board will meet as and when required and ordinarily meets every two months, to provide effective leadership and overall 
management of the Company’s affairs through the schedule of matters reserved for its decision. This includes the approval of the budget 
and business plan, major capital expenditure, acquisitions and disposals, risk management policies and the approval of the financial 
statements. Formal agendas, papers and reports are sent to the Directors in a timely manner, prior to the Board Meetings. The Board 
delegates certain of its responsibilities to the board committees which have terms of reference as listed below.

All Directors have access to the advice of the Company Secretary who is responsible for ensuring that all Board procedures are followed. 
Any Director may take independent professional advice at the Company’s expense in the furtherance of his duties.

Corporate governance practices 
The Company has adopted a Share Dealing Code that applies to Directors, senior management and any employee who is in possession 
of ‘inside information’. All such persons are prohibited from trading in the Company’s securities if they are in possession of ‘inside 
information’.

The Board has established a Remuneration Committee, Audit Committee and Nominations Committee. The Remuneration Committee 
is made up of Robert Annells, Susan Wickerson, and Mark Nichols and is responsible for reviewing the performance of the executive 
directors and for setting the framework and broad policy for scale and structure of their remuneration taking into account all factors which 
it shall deem necessary. The Remuneration Committee will also determine allocations of share options and is responsible for setting 
any performance criteria in relation to the exercise of options granted under any share option schemes adopted by the Company. The 
Audit Committee is made up of Robert Annells, Susan Wickerson, and Mark Nichols and monitors the integrity of the Company’s annual 
and interim financial statements. The committee also monitors and reviews the effectiveness of the management and the external 
auditors on accounting and internal control matters and recommends the appointment of, and reviews the fees of, the external auditors. 
The Nominations Committee is made up of Andy Morrison and Sue Wickerson and has responsibility for identifying, evaluating and 
recommending candidates to join the Board and make recommendations on Board composition and balance.

Corporate Governance
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Statement of Directors’ Responsibilities

The directors are responsible for preparing the Annual Report and the financial statements in accordance with applicable law and 
regulations.

Company law requires the directors to prepare financial statements for each financial year. Under that law the directors have elected 
to prepare the financial statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by the European 
Union. The financial statements are required by law to be properly prepared in accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the European Union 
and the Companies Act 1985. 

International Accounting Standard 1 requires that financial statements present fairly for each financial year the company’s financial 
position, financial performance and cash flows. This requires the faithful representation of the effects of transactions, other events 
and conditions in accordance with the definitions and recognition criteria for assets, liabilities, income and expenses set out in the 
International Accounting Standards Board’s ‘Framework for the preparation and presentation of financial statements’. In virtually all 
circumstances, a fair presentation will be achieved by compliance with all applicable IFRSs. However, directors are also required to:

• properly select and apply accounting policies;
•  present information, including accounting policies, in a manner that provides relevant, reliable, comparable and understandable 

information; 
•  provide additional disclosures when compliance with the specific requirements in IFRSs are insufficient to enable users to understand 

the impact of particular transactions, other events and conditions on the entity’s financial position and financial performance; and
• make an assessment of the company’s ability to continue as a going concern.

The directors are responsible for keeping proper accounting records that disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial 
position of the company and enable them to ensure that the financial statements comply with the Companies Act 1985. They are also 
responsible for safeguarding the assets of the company and hence for taking reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud 
and other irregularities.

The directors are responsible for the maintenance and integrity of the corporate and financial information included on the company’s 
website. Legislation in the United Kingdom governing the preparation and dissemination of financial statements may differ from 
legislation in other jurisdictions.



25Xtract Energy plc  Annual Report & Accounts 2009

Independent Auditors’ Report to the Members of Xtract Energy plc

We have audited the financial statements of Xtract Energy plc for the year ended 30 June 2009 which comprise the Group Income 
Statement, the Group and Parent Statements of Recognised Income and Expenditure, the Group and Parent Company Balance Sheets, 
and the Group and Parent Company Cash Flow Statements and the related notes 1 to 28. The financial reporting framework that has 
been applied in their preparation is applicable law and International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by the European 
Union and as applied in accordance with the provisions of the Companies Act 2006.

This report is made solely to the company’s members, as a body, in accordance with sections 495 and 496 of the Companies Act 2006. 
Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the company’s members those matters we are required to state to  
them in an auditors’ report and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility  
to anyone other than the company and the company’s members as a body, for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we  
have formed.

Respective responsibilities of directors and auditors
As explained more fully in the Directors’ Responsibilities Statement, the directors are responsible for the preparation of the financial 
statements and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view. Our responsibility is to audit the financial statements in accordance 
with applicable law and International Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland). Those standards require us to comply with the Auditing 
Practices Board’s (APB’s) Ethical Standards for Auditors.

Scope of the audit of the financial statements
An audit involves obtaining evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements sufficient to give reasonable 
assurance that the financial statements are free from material misstatement, whether caused by fraud or error. This includes an 
assessment of: whether the accounting policies are appropriate to the group’s and the parent company’s circumstances and have been 
consistently applied and adequately disclosed; the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by the directors; and the 
overall presentation of the financial statements.

Opinion on financial statements
In our opinion:
•  the financial statements give a true and fair view of the state of the group’s and the parent company’s affairs as at 30 June 2009  

and of the group’s loss for the year then ended;
•  the group financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the European Union;
•  the parent company financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the European Union 

and as applied in accordance with the provisions of the Companies Act 2006; and
•  the financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006.

Emphasis of matter – going concern
In forming our opinion on the financial statements, which is not qualified, we have considered the adequacy of the disclosure made in 
note 26 to the financial statements concerning the company’s ability to continue as a going concern. These conditions identify that the 
Company is reliant on gaining access to additional financing in order to fund their planned investment strategy. These conditions, along 
with other matters explained in note 26 to the financial statements, indicate the existence of a material uncertainty which may cast 
significant doubt about the company’s ability to continue as a going concern. The financial statements do not include the adjustments 
that would result if the company was unable to continue as a going concern. 

Opinion on other matter prescribed by the Companies Act 2006
In our opinion:
•  the information given in the Directors’ Report for the financial year for which the financial statements are prepared is consistent with 

the financial statements.

Matters on which we are required to report by exception
We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters where the Companies Act 2006 requires us to report to you if, in our 
opinion:
•  adequate accounting records have not been kept by the parent company, or returns adequate for our audit have not been received 

from branches not visited by us; or
•  the parent company financial statements are not in agreement with the accounting records and returns; or
•  certain disclosures of directors’ remuneration specified by law are not made; or
•  we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit.

Ross I Howard (Senior Statutory Auditor)
for and on behalf of Deloitte LLP
Chartered Accountants and Statutory Auditors 
London, United Kingdom
13 November, 2009
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Consolidated Income Statement
Year ended 30 June 2009

Note

Year ended 
30 June 2009  

£’000

Year ended 
30 June 2008

£’000

Continuing operations

Administrative and operating expenses (2,101) (2,885)

Share of results of associates 14 (1,431) (1,707)

Operating loss (3,532) (4,592)

Investment revenue 4 124 207

Finance costs 8 (323) –

Other gains and losses 4 (18,805) 5,340

(Loss)/profit before tax (22,536) 955

Tax credit/(expense) 9 5,729 (932)

(Loss)/profit for the year from continuing operations (16,807) 23

Discontinued operations

Loss for the year from discontinued operations 17 (1,294) (811)

Loss for the year 6 (18,101) (788)

Attributable to:

 Equity holders of the parent (18,101) (788)

 Minority interest – –

(18,101) (788)

Net loss per share

From continuing operations

Basic (pence) 10 (2.24) 0.00

Diluted (pence) 10 (2.24) 0.00

From continuing and discontinued operations

Basic (pence) 10 (2.41) (0.11)

Diluted (pence) 10 (2.41) (0.11)
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Consolidated and Company Statements of Recognised Income and Expenditure
Year ended 30 June 2009

Group Company

Note

Year ended  
30 June 2009

£’000

Year ended  
30 June 2008

 £’000

Year ended  
30 June 2009

£’000

Year ended  
30 June 2008

 £’000

(Losses)/gains on revaluation of available-for-sale 
investments taken to equity

 
21

 
(9,098)

 
(1,963)

 
(1,095)

 
1,973

Unwinding of fair value gains on transfer to  
investment in associate

 
21

 
–

 
(547)

 
–

 
(547)

Minority interest movement due to a subsidiary  
becoming an associate

 
21

 
91

 
–

 
–

 
–

Exchange differences on translation of foreign operations 21 705 829 – –

Tax credit/(expense) on items taken directly to equity 21 2,616 540 215 (663)

Net (loss)/gain recognised directly in equity (5,686) (1,141) (880) 763

Transferred to income statement on sale  
of available-for-sale investment

 
6,518

 
(1,558)

 
–

 
(1,868)

Loss for the year 21 (18,101) (788) (7,984) (703)

Total recognised income and expense for the year (17,269) (3,487) (8,864) (1,808)

Attributable to:

 Equity holders of the parent (17,269) (3,487) (8,864) (1,808)

 (17,269) (3,487) (8,864) (1,808)
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Consolidated and Company Balance Sheets
As at 30 June 2009

Group Company

Note

As at
30 June 2009

£’000

As at
30 June 2008

£’000

As at
30 June 2009

£’000

As at
30 June 2008

£’000

Non-current assets

Intangible assets 11 – 10,494 – 406

Property, plant and equipment 12 21 28 9 5

Investments in associates 14 5,619 3,900 1,465 –

Investments in subsidiaries 13 – – 13,641 19,101

Financial assets 15 3,215 15,962 1,429 1,869

Loans to subsidiaries – – 53 802

Deferred consideration 17 310 – – –

Deferred tax asset 18 284 595 127 –

9,449 30,979 16,724 22,183

Current assets

Derivative financial instruments 15 – 23 – 9

Trade and other receivables 16 717 130 38 102

Advance payment 16 2,760 – 2,760 –

Cash and cash equivalents 16, 23 3,182 6,362 687 6,201

Assets held for sale – 2,324 – –

6,659 8,839 3,485 6,312

Total assets 16,108 39,818 20,209 28,495

Current liabilities

Trade and other payables 19 486 439 130 353

Current tax liabilities 19 3,740 3,636 363 347

Loans from subsidiaries 19 – – 5,143 4,293

Liabilities directly associated with assets 
classified as held for sale – 69 – –

4,226 4,144 5,636 4,993

Net current assets/(liabilities) 2,433 4,695 (2,151) 1,319

Non-current liabilities

Deferred tax liabilities 18 14 5,595 – 83

Total liabilities 4,240 9,739 5,636 5,076

Net assets 11,868 30,079 14,573 23,419

Equity

Share capital 20, 21 752 752 752 752

Share premium account 21 24,394 24,394 24,394 24,394

Share based payments reserve 21 976 956 629 611

Available-for-sale reserve 21 (2,945) (2,981) (1,438) (558)

Revaluation reserve 21 – 962 – –

Exchange translation reserve 21 1,516 811 – –

Retained earnings 21 (12,825) 5,276 (9,764) (1,780)

Equity attributable to equity holders of the parent 11,868 30,170 14,573 23,419

Minority interest 21 – (91) – –

Total equity 11,868 30,079 14,573 23,419

The financial statements were approved by the board of directors and authorised for release on 13 November 2009. They were signed 
on its behalf by Andy Morrison, Director.
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Consolidated and Company Cash Flow Statements
Year ended 30 June 2009

Group Company

Note

Year ended
30 June 2009

£’000

Year ended
30 June 2008

£’000

Year ended
30 June 2009

£’000

Year ended
30 June 2008

£’000

Net cash used in operating activities 22 (2,332) (2,431) (1,241) (1,121)

Investing activities

Interest received 4 124 207 122 193

Government grants 4 179 119 – –

Purchase of property plant and equipment 12 (8) (83) (8) (5)

Acquisition of intangible assets – (78) – –

Disposal of trading investments – 665 – 665

Purchase of trading investments 15 – (433) – (423)

Disposal of available-for-sale investments 15 3,668 1,086 – –

Purchase of available-for-sale investments 15 (65) (424) (65) –

Disposal of associates 14 – 9,751 – 1,581

Acquisition of associates 14 (1,465) (4,223) (1,465) (735)

Prepayment for an associate (2,760) – (2,760) –

Purchase of shares (590) – (590) –

Net cash (used in)/from investing activities (917) 6,587 (4,766) 1,276

Financing activities

Proceeds on issue of shares – warrants 20 – 642 – 642

Loans to subsidiaries – – (213) 178

Loans from subsidiaries – – 850 4,293

Net cash (used in)/from financing activities – 642 637 5,113

Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents (3,249) 4,798 (5,370) 5,268

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 6,362 1,582 6,201 952

Effect of foreign exchange rate changes 69 (18) (144) (19)

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 3,182 6,362 687 6,201
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
Year ended 30 June 2009

1. GENERAl INFoRMAtIoN

Xtract Energy plc is a company incorporated in the Great Britain under the Companies Act 2006. The address of the registered office is 
55–56 St James Street, London SW1 1LA. The nature of the Group’s operations and its principal activities are set out in the CEO’s and 
Financial Reviews.

These financial statements are presented in pounds sterling because that is the currency of the primary economic environment in which 
the Group operates. Foreign operations are included in accordance with the policies set out in note 2.

The Group has adopted IFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures which is effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 
1 January 2007, and the related amendment to IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements. The impact of the adoption of IFRS 7 
and the changes to IAS 1 has been to expand the disclosures provided in these financial statements regarding the Group’s financial 
instruments and management of capital (see note 23). Four interpretations issued by the International Reporting Interpretations 
Committee are effective for the current year. These are: IFRIC 7 Applying the Restatement Approach under IAS 29, Financial Reporting in 
Hyperinflationary Economies; IFRIC 8 Scope of IFRS 2; IFRIC 9 Reassessment of Embedded Derivatives; and IFRIC 10 Interim Financial 
Reporting and Impairment. The adoption of these interpretations has not led to any changes in the Group’s accounting policies.

At the date of authorisation of these financial statements, the following Standards and Interpretations which have not been applied  
in these financial statements were in issue but not yet effective (and in some cases had not been adopted by the EU):

IFRS 1 (amended)/IAS 27 (amended) Cost of an Investment in a Subsidiary, Jointly Controlled Entity or Associate 
IFRS 2 (amended) Share-based Payment – Vesting Conditions and Cancellations 
IFRS 3 (revised 2008) Business Combinations 
IFRS 7 and IAS 39 (amendment) Reclassification of Financial Instruments 
IFRS 8 Operating Segments 
IAS 1 (revised 2007) Presentation of Financial Statements 
IAS 23 (revised 2007) Borrowing Costs
IAS 27 (revised 2008) Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements 

The directors anticipate that the adoption of these standards and Interpretations in future periods will have no material impact on the 
financial statements of the Group.

2. SIGNIFICANt ACCouNtING polICIES

BASIS OF ACCOuNTINg AND gOINg CONCERN
These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) and IFRIC 
interpretations and with those parts of the Companies Act 2006 applicable to companies reporting under IFRS. Accordingly, the Group 
complies with all IFRS, as adopted by the European Union. The financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost 
convention modified for certain items carried at fair value, as stated in the accounting policies. A summary of the more important 
accounting policies is set out below, and consideration of a material uncertainty relating to the application of the going concern basis  
is detailed in note 26.

PARENT ONLy INCOME STATEMENT
Xtract Energy plc has not presented its own income statement as permitted by section 230 (3) of the Companies Act 2006. The loss  
for the year was £7,984,084 (year ended 30 June 2008; loss £703,253).

BASIS OF CONSOLIDATION
The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial statements of the Company and entities controlled by the Company (its 
subsidiaries) made up to 30 June each year. Control is achieved where the Company has the power to govern the financial and operating 
policies of an investee entity so as to obtain benefits from its activities.

Minority interests in the net assets of consolidated subsidiaries are identified separately from the Group’s equity therein. Minority 
interests consist of the amount of those interests at the date of the original business combination and the minority’s share of changes  
in equity since the date of the combination. Losses applicable to the minority in excess of the minority’s interest in the subsidiary’s  
equity are allocated against the interests of the Group only to the extent that the minority has a binding obligation and is able to make  
an additional investment to cover the losses.

The results of subsidiaries acquired or disposed of during the year are included in the consolidated income statement from the effective 
date of acquisition or up to the effective date of disposal, as appropriate.

Where necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of subsidiaries to bring the accounting policies used into line with 
those used by the Group.

All intra-group transactions, balances, income and expenses are eliminated on consolidation.
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2. SIGNIFICANt ACCouNtING polICIES (continued)

BuSINESS COMBINATIONS 
The acquisition of subsidiaries is accounted for using the purchase method. The cost of the acquisition is measured at the aggregate of the 
fair values, at the date of exchange, of assets given, liabilities incurred or assumed, and equity instruments issued by the Group in exchange 
for control of the acquiree, plus any costs directly attributable to the business combination. The acquiree’s identifiable assets, liabilities and 
contingent liabilities that meet the conditions for recognition under IFRS 3 are recognised at their fair value at the acquisition date.

Goodwill arising on acquisition is recognised as an asset and initially measured at cost, being the excess of the cost of the business 
combination over the Group’s interest in the net fair value of the identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities recognised. If, after 
reassessment, the Group’s interest in the net fair value of the acquiree’s identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities exceeds 
the cost of the business combination, the excess is recognised immediately in income statement as “negative goodwill on acquisition”.

The interest of minority shareholders in the acquiree is initially measured at the minority’s proportion of the net fair value of the assets, 
liabilities and contingent liabilities recognised.

INvESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES
An associate is an entity over which the Group is in a position to exercise significant influence, but not control or joint control, through 
participation in the financial and operating policy decisions of the investee.

The results and assets and liabilities of associates are incorporated in these financial statements using the equity method of accounting 
except when classified as held for sale. Investments in associates are carried in the balance sheet at cost as adjusted by post-acquisition 
changes in the Group’s share of the net assets of the associate, less any impairment in the value of individual investments. Losses of the 
associates in excess of the Group’s interest in those associates are not recognised.

Any excess of the cost of acquisition over the Group’s share of the fair values of the identifiable net assets of the associate at the 
date of acquisition is recognised as goodwill. Any deficiency of the cost of acquisition below the Group’s share of the fair values of the 
identifiable net assets of the associate at the date of acquisition (i.e. discount on acquisition) is credited in profit or loss in the period of 
acquisition.

Where a Group company transacts with an associate of the Group, profits and losses are eliminated to the extent of the Group’s interest 
in the relevant associate. Losses may provide evidence of an impairment of the asset transferred in which case appropriate provision is 
made for impairment.

Interest income is accrued on a time basis, by reference to the principal outstanding and at the effective interest rate applicable, which is 
the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts through the expected life of the financial asset to that asset’s net carrying 
amount.

NON-CuRRENT ASSETS hELD FOR SALE
Non-current assets (and disposal groups) classified as held for sale are measured at lower of carrying amount and fair value less costs to sell.

Non-current assets and disposal groups are classified as held for sale if their carrying amount will be recovered through a sale transaction 
rather than through continuing use. This condition is regarded as met only when the sale is highly probable and the asset (or disposal 
group) is available for immediate sale in its present condition. 

Management must be committed to the sale which should be expected to qualify for recognition as a completed sale within one year 
from the date of classification.

FOREIgN CuRRENCIES 
The individual financial statements of each Group company are presented in the currency of the primary economic environment in which 
it operates (its functional currency). For the purpose of the consolidated financial statements, the results and financial position of each 
Group company are expressed in pound sterling, which is the functional currency of the Company, and the presentation currency for the 
consolidated financial statements.

In preparing the financial statements of the individual companies, transactions in currencies other than the entity’s functional currency 
(foreign currencies) are recorded at the rates of exchange prevailing on the dates of the transactions. At each balance sheet date, 
monetary assets and liabilities that are denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing on the balance sheet 
date. Non-monetary items carried at fair value that are denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the rates prevailing at the  
date when the fair value was determined. Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are  
not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary items, and on the retranslation of monetary items, are included in profit  
or loss for the period. Exchange differences arising on the retranslation of non-monetary items carried at fair value are included in profit  
or loss for the period except for differences arising on the retranslation of non-monetary items in respect of which gains and losses  
are recognised directly in equity. For such non-monetary items, any exchange component of that gain or loss is also recognised directly  
in equity.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
Year ended 30 June 2009

2. SIGNIFICANt ACCouNtING polICIES (continued)

FOREIgN CuRRENCIES (continued)
For the purpose of presenting consolidated financial statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group’s foreign operations are translated 
at exchange rates prevailing on the balance sheet date. Income and expense items are translated at the average exchange rates for the 
period, unless exchange rates fluctuate significantly during that period, in which case the exchange rates at the date of transactions are 
used. Exchange differences arising, if any, are classified as equity and transferred to the Group’s translation reserve. Such translation 
differences are recognised as income or as expenses in the period in which the operation is disposed of.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the acquisition of a foreign entity are treated as assets and liabilities of the foreign entity 
and translated at the closing rate.

Where a monetary item forms part of a net investment in a foreign operation, exchange differences are recognised in equity.

PuRChASE OF ShARES IN CONTROLLED ENTITy
The cost of the incremental acquisition is measured at the aggregate of the fair value of assets given at the date of exchange, liabilities 
incurred or assumed, and equity instruments issued by the Group in exchange for shares purchased in a controlled entity plus any costs 
directly attributable to the transaction. The identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities of a controlled entity are recognised at 
fair value at the date of the acquisition, but only to the extent of the incremental proportion of equity acquired.

Any goodwill arising on the purchase of shares in a controlled entity is recognised as an asset and initially measured at cost, being the 
excess of the additional cost of shares over the increase of the Group’s interest in the net fair value of the identifiable assets, liabilities 
and contingent liabilities recognised.

If the increase in the Group’s interest in the net fair value of the acquiree’s identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities exceeds 
the cost of the shares purchased, the excess is recognised immediately in the income statement as negative goodwill.

TAxATION
The tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently payable and deferred tax.

Current tax is based on taxable profit for the year. Taxable profit differs from net profit as reported in the income statement because it 
excludes items of income or expense that are taxable or deductible in other years and it further excludes items that are never taxable 
or deductible. The Group’s liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the 
balance sheet date.

Deferred tax is the tax expected to be payable or recoverable on differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities  
in the financial statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the computation of taxable profit, and is accounted for using the 
balance sheet liability method. Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary differences and deferred tax 
assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be available against which deductible temporary differences 
can be utilised. Such assets and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference arises from the initial recognition of goodwill  
or from the initial recognition (other than in a business combination) of other assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither  
the tax profit nor the accounting profit.

Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the year when the liability is settled or the asset is realised. 
Deferred tax is charged or credited in the income statement, except when it relates to items charged or credited directly to equity,  
in which case the deferred tax is also dealt with in equity.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets against current tax 
liabilities and when they relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority and the Group intends to settle its current tax 
assets and liabilities on a net basis.

PROPERTy, PLANT AND EquIPMENT AND INTANgIBLE ASSETS
Oil and gas properties and leases
The costs of oil and gas properties and leases include the cost of acquiring and developing oil and gas properties and leases, together 
with any costs reclassified from intangible exploration and evaluation. Oil and gas properties and leases are amortised from the 
commencement of production in proportion to the ratio of production in the year to remaining reserves as at the start of the year.

Intangible exploration and evaluation expenditure assets
The costs of exploration properties and leases, which include the cost of acquiring prospective properties and exploration rights, are 
capitalised as intangible assets. Exploration and evaluation expenditure is capitalised within exploration and evaluation properties until 
such time that the activities have reached a stage which permits a reasonable assessment of the existence of commercially exploitable 
reserves when they are transferred to oil and gas properties and leases. Capitalised exploration and evaluation expenditure is assessed 
for impairment in accordance with the indicators of impairment as set out in IFRS 6 Exploration for and Evaluation of Mineral Reserves.  
In circumstances where a property is abandoned, the cumulative capitalised costs relating to the property are written off in the year.
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2. SIGNIFICANt ACCouNtING polICIES (continued)

PROPERTy, PLANT AND EquIPMENT AND INTANgIBLE ASSETS (continued)
Other property, plant and equipment
Other tangible fixed assets are recorded at cost, net of accumulated depreciation. Depreciation is provided on all such tangible fixed 
assets at rates calculated to write off the cost or valuation of each asset on a straight-line basis over its expected useful life or the life  
of the relevant licence, whichever is less, as follows:

Average life in years
Office and computer equipment 3–5
Plant and machinery 7–20

Until they are brought into use, fixed assets and equipment to be installed are included within assets under construction.

The cost of maintenance, repairs and replacement of minor items of tangible fixed assets are charged to the income statement as 
incurred. Renewals and asset improvements are capitalised. Upon sale or retirement of tangible fixed assets, the cost and related 
accumulated depreciation are eliminated from the financial statements. Any resulting gains or losses are included in the income 
statement.

Other intangible assets
Intangible assets acquired separately from a business are carried initially at cost. An intangible asset acquired as part of a business 
combination is recognised outside goodwill if the asset is separable or arises from contractual or other legal rights and its fair value 
can be measured reliably. Expenditure on internally developed intangible assets, excluding development costs, is taken to the income 
statement in the year in which it is incurred. Expenditure relating to clearly defined and identifiable development projects is recognised  
as an intangible asset only after all the following criteria are met:

• the project’s technical feasibility and commercial viability can be demonstrated;
• the availability of adequate technical and financial resources and an intention to complete the project have been confirmed; and
• the correlation between development costs and future revenues has been established.

Expenditure on research activities is recognised as an expense in the period in which it is incurred.

Following initial recognition, the historic cost model is applied, with intangible assets being carried at cost less accumulated amortisation 
and accumulated impairment losses. The carrying value of intangible assets is reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes  
in circumstances indicate the carrying value may not be recoverable. 

IMPAIRMENT OF TANgIBLE AND INTANgIBLE ASSETS ExCLuDINg gOODwILL
At each balance sheet date, the Group reviews the carrying amounts of its tangible and intangible assets to determine whether there 
is any indication that those assets have suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset 
is estimated in order to determine the extent of the impairment loss (if any). Where the asset does not generate cash flows that are 
independent from other assets, the Group estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.  
An intangible asset with an indefinite useful life is tested for impairment annually and whenever there is an indication that the asset  
may be impaired.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash 
flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value  
of money and the risks specific to the asset for which the estimates of future cash flows have not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or cash-generating unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount  
of the asset (cash-generating unit) is reduced to its recoverable amount. An impairment loss is recognised as an expense immediately, 
unless the relevant asset is carried at a revalued amount, in which case the impairment loss is treated as a revaluation decrease.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset (cash-generating unit) is increased to the revised 
estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have 
been determined had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset (cash-generating unit) in prior years. A reversal of an impairment 
loss is recognised as income immediately, unless the relevant asset is carried at a revalued amount, in which case the reversal of the 
impairment loss is treated as a revaluation increase.

INvENTORIES
Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost comprises direct materials, and where applicable, direct labour 
costs and those overheads that have been incurred in bringing the inventories to their present location and condition. Cost is calculated 
using the weighted average method. Net realisable value represents the estimated selling price less all estimated costs of completion 
and costs to be incurred in marketing, selling and distribution.
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2. SIGNIFICANt ACCouNtING polICIES (continued)

INvENTORIES (continued)
Financial instruments
Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised in the Group’s balance sheet when the Group becomes a party to the contractual 
provisions of the instrument.

Trade receivables
Trade receivables are measured at initial recognition at fair value, and are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective 
interest rate method. Appropriate allowances for estimated irrecoverable amounts are recognised in the income statement when there 
is objective evidence that the asset is impaired. The allowance recognised is measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying 
amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows discounted at the effective interest rate computed at initial recognition.

Investments
Investments are recognised and derecognised on a trade date where a purchase or sale of an investment is under a contract whose 
terms require delivery of the investment within the timeframe established by the market concerned, and are initially measured at cost, 
including transaction costs.

Investments are classified as either held-for-trading or available-for-sale, and are measured at subsequent reporting dates at fair value. 
Where securities are held for trading purposes, gains and losses arising from changes in fair value are included in net profit or loss  
for the period. For available-for-sale investments, gains and losses arising from changes in fair value are recognised directly in equity, 
until the security is disposed of or is determined to be impaired, at which time the cumulative gain or loss previously recognised in 
equity is included in the profit or loss for the period. Impairment losses recognised in profit or loss for equity investments classified as 
available-for-sale are not subsequently reversed through profit or loss. Impairment losses recognised in profit or loss for debt instruments 
classified as available-for-sale are subsequently reversed if an increase in the fair value of the instrument can be objectively related to  
an event occurring after the recognition of the impairment loss.

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and demand deposits, and other short-term highly liquid investments that are readily 
convertible to a known amount of cash and are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value.
 
Financial liabilities and equity
Financial liabilities and equity instruments are classified according to the substance of the contractual arrangements entered into.  
An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of the Group after deducting all of its liabilities.

Trade payables
Trade payables are initially measured at fair value, and are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest rate 
method.

Equity instruments
Equity instruments issued by the Company are recorded at the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Derivative financial instruments
The Group’s activities expose it primarily to the financial risks of changes in foreign currency exchange rates. The Group continues 
to assess the use of foreign exchange forward contracts to hedge these exposures. The Group does not use derivative financial 
instruments for speculative purposes.

The use of financial derivatives is governed by the Group’s board of directors.

Derivatives embedded in other financial instruments or other host contracts are treated as separate derivatives when their risks and 
characteristics are not closely related to those of host contracts and the host contracts are not carried at fair value, with gains or losses 
reported in the income statement.

ShARE-BASED PAyMENTS
The Group issues equity-settled share-based payments to certain directors and officers and service providers. Equity-settled share-based 
payments are measured at fair value (excluding the effect of non market-based vesting conditions) at the date of grant. The fair value 
determined at the grant date of the equity-settled share-based payments is expensed on a straight-line basis over the vesting period, 
based on the Group’s estimate of shares that will eventually vest and adjusted for the effect of non market-based vesting conditions.

Where the value of the goods or services received in exchange for the share-based payment cannot be reliably estimated the fair value 
is measured by use of the Black-Scholes model. The expected life used in the model has been adjusted, based on management’s best 
estimate, for the effects of non-transferability, exercise restrictions, and behavioural considerations.

OPERATINg LEASES
Leases where the lessor retains a significant portion of the risks and benefits of ownership of the asset are classified as operating leases 
and rentals payable under operating leases are charged in the income statement on a straight line basis over the lease term.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
Year ended 30 June 2009
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2. SIGNIFICANt ACCouNtING polICIES (continued)

BORROwINg COSTS
Borrowing costs are recognised in the income statement in the period in which they are incurred.

gOvERNMENT gRANTS
Government grants towards research and development costs are recognised as income over the periods necessary to match them with 
the related costs and are deducted in reporting the related expense.
 
LOANS AND BORROwINgS
Loans are initially measured at fair value less directly attributable transaction costs. After initial recognition, interest bearing loans are 
subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. Interest payable is accrued in the income statement using 
the effective interest rate method.

3. CRItICAl ACCouNtING judGEMENtS ANd kEy SouRCES oF EStIMAtIoN uNCERtAINty

CRITICAL juDgMENTS IN APPLyINg ThE gROuP’S ACCOuNTINg POLICIES
In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies, which are described in note 2, management has made the following 
judgements that have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements (apart from those involving 
estimations, which are dealt with below).

Impairment of intangible assets 
The assessment of intangible assets for any indications of impairment involves judgement. If an indication of impairment, as defined 
in IFRS 6, exists, a formal estimate of recoverable amount is performed and an impairment loss recognised to the extent that carrying 
amount exceeds recoverable amount. Recoverable amount is determined as the higher of fair value less costs to sell and value in use. 
The calculation of recoverable amount requires an estimation of the value in use of the cash-generating units to which the intangible 
assets are allocated. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax 
discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset for which the 
estimates of future cash flows have not been adjusted.

Tax provisions
Assessing the outcome of uncertain tax provisions requires judgements to be made regarding the result of negotiations with and 
enquiries from tax authorities in a number of jurisdictions. The assessments made are based on the advice from independent tax 
advisers and the status of ongoing discussions with the relevant tax authorities.

Going concern basis
Considerations relating to the application of the going concern basis for preparation of the financial statements are discussed in note 26.

KEy SOuRCES OF ESTIMATION uNCERTAINTy
The preparation of financial statements requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts reported  
for assets and liabilities as at the balance sheet date and the amounts reported for revenues and expenses during the year. The nature  
of estimation means that actual outcomes could differ from those estimates. The key sources of estimation uncertainty that have  
a significant risk of causing material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are 
discussed below.

Share-based payments
The estimation of share-based payment costs requires the selection of an appropriate valuation model and consideration as to the  
inputs necessary for the valuation model chosen. The Group has made estimates as to the volatility of its own shares, the probable life  
of options granted and the time of exercise of those options. The model used by the Group is the Black-Scholes model. 

Measurement of fair value for held for trading and available-for-sale assets
The estimation of fair value for held for trading assets and available-for-sale assets is determined based on quoted market prices for 
assets where quoted market prices exist. For share options held that are not traded on an open market and therefore have no quoted 
market price, an appropriate valuation model is required to be selected and consideration given to the inputs required for that model.  
In calculating the fair value of share options held by the Group, the Black-Scholes model has been adopted.

Fair values recognised in business combinations
The estimation of fair values of oil and gas exploration rights and production licences rights and any associated property, plant and 
equipment acquired in business combinations involves estimates over the quantities of minerals that may be recovered and the technical 
and commercial feasibility of extraction, which may be highly uncertain. Generally, fair values assigned to exploration and evaluation 
assets are limited so as not to generate negative goodwill where there is significant uncertainty over the estimates of fair value. 



Xtract Energy plc  Annual Report & Accounts 200936

4. REvENuE ANd othER GAINS ANd loSSES

An analysis of the Group’s revenue and other gains and losses is as follows:

Group

Year ended
30 June 2009

£’000

Year ended
30 June 2008

£’000

Continuing operations

– Interest on bank deposits 124 207

Total revenue 124 207

Continuing operations

Other gains and losses

– Gains on disposal of associate – 2,920

– (Loss)/gains on disposal of available-for-sale assets (9,312) 568

– Other income 37 255

– Research and development grants (a) 179 119

– Intangible impairment (9,431) –

– Write down of investment in associate (267) –

– (Decrease)/increase in the fair value of derivative financial instruments (21) 233

– Gain on dilution of interest in associates 10 1,245

Total other gains and losses from continuing operations (18,805) 5,340

Discontinued operations

Other gains and losses

– Write down of intangible assets – (530)

– Dilution loss on the sale of subsidiary (698) –

– Gains/losses on disposal of fixed assets (477) 1

Total other gains and losses from discontinued operations (1,175) (529)

Total other gains and losses (19,980) 4,811

(a) Government grants received in relation to research and development expenditure on oil shale extraction technologies in Australia.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
Year ended 30 June 2009



37Xtract Energy plc  Annual Report & Accounts 2009

5. SEGMENt INFoRMAtIoN

BuSINESS SEgMENTS
For management purposes, the Group is currently organised into two operating divisions – oil & gas exploration, evaluation and 
development and oil shale exploitation. These divisions are the basis on which the Group reports its primary segment information.

Principal activities are as follows:

•  Oil & gas exploration, evaluation and development – of the Group’s interests in Turkey, the Netherlands, Denmark and the  
Kyrgyz Republic. 

•  Oil shale exploitation – of the Group’s interests in Queensland, Australia and Tarfaya, Morocco. 
•  Investment and other – in various listed resource companies.

Segment information about businesses is presented below. 

 

Year ended 30 June 2009

Oil & Gas exploration 
and production

£’000

Oil shale  
exploitation

£’000

Investment  
and other

£’000

Discontinued 
operations

£’000
Consolidated

£’000

Segment revenue – – – – –

Administrative and operating expenses (119) (440) (1,661) 119 (2,101)

Share of results of associates (1,431) – – – (1,431)

Loss on disposal of fixed assets (477) – – 477 –

Impairment loss – – (9,431) – (9,431)

Segment result (2,027) (440) (11,092) 596 (12,963)

Investment revenue – – 124 – 124

Finance costs – – (323) – (323)

Other gains and losses (698) 179 (9,553) 698 (9,374)

Loss before tax (2,725) (261) (20,844) 1,294 (22,536)

Tax benefit 5,729

Loss for the year from continuing operations (16,807)

Loss for the year from discontinued operations (1,294)

Loss for the year (18,101)

Discontinued operations relate entirely to oil and gas exploration and production.

Other information 

Year ended 30 June 2009

Oil & Gas exploration 
and production

£’000

Oil shale  
exploitation

£’000

Investment  
and other

£’000
Consolidated

£’000

Capital additions – property, plant and equipment – – 8 8

Depreciation and amortisation – 11 4 15

Balance sheet

Assets

Intangible assets – – – –

Property, plant and equipment – 12 9 21

Interests in associates 5,619 – – 5,619

Financial assets – 59 7,055 7,114

Deferred consideration 310 – – 310

Prepayments – – 2,760 2,760

Other unallocated corporate assets – – – 284

Consolidated total assets 16,108

Liabilities

Financial liabilities – – 486 486

Unallocated corporate liabilities – – – 3,754

Consolidated total liabilities 4,240
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5. SEGMENt INFoRMAtIoN (continued)

BuSINESS SEgMENTS (continued)

 
 
Year ended 30 June 2008

Oil & Gas  
exploration

and production
£’000

Oil shale  
exploitation

£’000

Investment  
and other

£’000

Discontinued 
operations

£’000
Consolidated 

£’000

Segment revenue – – – – –

Administrative and operating expenses (282) (430) (2,455) 282 (2,885)

Share of results of associates (1,491) – (216) – (1,707)

Gains on disposal of fixed assets 1 – – (1) –

Impairment loss (530) – – 530 –

Segment result (2,302) (430) (2,671) 811 (4,592)

Investment revenue 207

Other gains and losses 5,340

Profit before tax 955

Tax expense (932)

Profit for the year from continuing operations 23

Loss for the period from discontinued operations (811)

Loss for the year (788)

Discontinued operations relate entirely to oil and gas exploration and production.

Year ended 30 June 2008

Other information

Oil & Gas exploration 
and production

£’000

Oil shale  
exploitation

£’000

Investment  
and other

£’000
Consolidated

£’000

Capital additions – intangible assets 78 – – 78

Capital additions – property, plant and equipment 77 – 6 83

Depreciation and amortisation 25 10 1 36

Balance sheet

Assets

Intangible assets – 10,429 65 10,494

Property, plant and equipment – 23 5 28

Interests in associates 3,900 – – 3,900

Financial assets – – 22,477 22,477

Assets held for sale 2,324 – – 2,324

Other unallocated corporate assets – – – 595

Consolidated total assets 39,818

Liabilities

Financial liabilities – – 439 439

Liabilities directly associated with assets classified as held for sale 69 – – 69

Unallocated corporate liabilities – – – 9,231

Consolidated total liabilities 9,739

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
Year ended 30 June 2009
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5. SEGMENt INFoRMAtIoN (continued)

gEOgRAPhICAL SEgMENTS
The Group’s operations are located in Europe (including UK and Turkey), Central Asia, Central America, and Australia. 

The following table provides an analysis of the Group’s revenue by geographical market, irrespective of the origin of the goods/services.

 

Year ended 30 June 2009

Europe
(including UK)

£’000
Central Asia

£’000
Australia

£’000
Total of segments

£’000

Segment revenue – – – –

Segment assets 12,126 767 3,215 16,108

Capital additions 8 – – 8

 

Year ended 30 June 2008

Europe
(including UK)

£’000
Central Asia

£’000
Australia

£’000
Total of segments

£’000

Segment revenue – – – –

Segment assets 11,339 2,324 26,155 39,818

Capital additions 6 155 – 161

6. loSS FoR thE yEAR 

Loss for the year has been arrived at after charging/(crediting):
Year ended

30 June 2009
£’000

Year ended
30 June 2008

£’000

Net foreign exchange losses/(gains) 241 (17)

Research and development costs 371 310

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 15 37

Share based payments expense (see note 25) 20 200

Staff costs (see note 7) 520 666

 

Auditors’ remuneration

Year ended
30 June 2009

£’000

Year ended
30 June 2008

£’000

The analysis of auditors’ remuneration is as follows:

Fees payable to the Company’s auditors and their associates for the audit  
of the Group’s annual accounts

 
68

 
80

Fees payable to the Company’s auditors and their associates for the audit  
of the Company’s subsidiaries pursuant to legislation

 
25

 
102

Total audit fees 93 182

Fees payable to the Group’s auditors and its associates for other services:

– other services relating to taxation 20 2

– other assurance services relating to interim reviews 25 25

Total non-audit fees 45 27

138 209
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7. StAFF CoStS

The average monthly number of employees (including executive directors) was:
Year ended

30 June 2009
No.

Year ended
30 June 2008

No.

Corporate (a) 8 25
 

£’000
 

£’000

Their aggregate remuneration comprised:

Salaries and fees 520 666

(a) 2008 number of employees includes personnel employed by Zhibek Resources Limited.

Total remuneration for the highest paid Director was £168,525 (year ended 30 June 2008: £231,933).

8. FINANCE CoStS

Year ended
30 June 2009

£’000

Year ended
30 June 2008

£’000

Interest on current tax payable 323 –

9. tAX

Year ended
30 June 2009

£’000

Year ended
30 June 2008

£’000

Current tax 47 2,530

Deferred tax (note 18) (5,776) (1,598)

(5,729) 932

Corporation tax is calculated at 28% (2008: 28%) of the estimated assessable (loss)/profit for the year.

Taxation for other jurisdictions is calculated at the rates prevailing in the respective jurisdictions. 

The Group tax (credit)/charge for the year can be reconciled to the (loss)/profit per the income statement as follows:

Year ended
30 June 2009

£’000

Year ended
30 June 2008

£’000

(Loss)/profit before tax:

Continuing operations (22,536) 955

Discontinued operations (1,294) (811)

(23,830) 144

Tax at the UK corporation tax rate of 28% (2008: 28%) (6,672) 41

Tax effect of permanent differences (839) 35

Tax effect of unrecognised tax losses carried forward and other temporary differences 1,351 559

Overseas taxes on disposal 47 2,466

Double tax relief (47) (2,231)

Impact of differing tax rates in overseas jurisdictions – 62

Tax effect of writing off non-taxable goodwill 431 –

Tax (credit)/expense for the year (5,729) 932

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
Year ended 30 June 2009
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10. (loSS)/EARNINGS pER ShARE 

 

From continuing operations

Year ended
30 June 2009

£’000

Year ended
30 June 2008

£’000

(Loss)/Earnings for the purposes of basic and diluted earnings per share (“EPS”)  
being net (loss)/ profit for the year attributable to equity holders of the parent

 
(16,807)

 
23

Number Number

Weighted average number of ordinary shares for purposes of basic EPS 751,765,026 729,535,781

Effect of dilutive potential ordinary shares – options and warrants – 22,078,162

Weighted average number of ordinary shares for purposes of diluted EPS 751,765,026 751,613,943

The basic and diluted loss per share from continuing operations have been calculated using the loss from continuing operations for the 
year ended 30 June 2009 of £16,807,000 (2008 profit £23,000). The basic and diluted loss per share were calculated using a weighted 
average number of shares in issue of 751,765,026 (2008: 751,613,943).

 

From continuing and discontinued operations

Year ended
30 June 2009

£’000

Year ended
30 June 2008

£’000

Loss for the purposes of basic and diluted earnings per share (“EPS”)  
being net loss for the year attributable to equity holders of the parent

 
(18,101)

 
(788)

Number Number

Weighted average number of ordinary shares for purposes of basic EPS 751,765,026 729,535,781

Effect of dilutive potential ordinary shares – options and warrants – –

Weighted average number of ordinary shares for purposes of diluted EPS 751,765,026 729,535,781

The basic and diluted loss per share from continuing and discontinued operations have been calculated using the loss from continuing 
and discontinued operations for the year ended 30 June 2009 of £18,101,000 (2008 loss £788,000). The basic and diluted loss per share 
were calculated using a weighted average number of shares in issue of 751,765,026 (2008: 751,613,943). 

Where a loss has occurred, basic and diluted earnings per share are the same because the outstanding share options and warrants are 
anti-dilutive. Accordingly diluted EPS is equal to basic EPS.

11. INtANGIBlE ASSEtS

group Total £’000

At 1 July 2007 11,601

Foreign currency translation 1,203

Written off during the period (530)

Transfer to held for sale (1,858)

Additions 78

At 30 June 2008 10,494

Foreign currency translation (101)

Written off during the year (a) (10,393)

At 30 june 2009 –
 

Company Total £’000

At 1 July 2007 406

Additions –

At 30 June 2008 406

Written off during the year (a) (406)

At 30 june 2009 –
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11. INtANGIBlE ASSEtS (continued)

(a)  The assessment of intangible assets for any indications of impairment involves judgment. If an indication of impairment, as defined 
in IFRS 6 Exploration for and Evaluation of Mineral Reserves exists, a formal estimate of recoverable amount is performed and an 
impairment loss recognised to the extent that carrying amount exceeds recoverable amount, as prescribed by IAS 36 Impairment.

  During the year, impairment indicators were identified in regard to mining rights for oil shale reserves, an intangible exploration and 
evaluation asset previously recognised in relation to Xtract Oil Limited which resulted in an impairment charge being recorded in the 
first half of the year. A period of sustained adverse market conditions and a heightened uncertainty over the outlook for oil prices have 
necessitated a reassessment of the Group’s investment priorities. Under these circumstances, Xtract took the decision to scale back 
significantly its projected investment in the development of oil shale technology.

  Due to the early stage of the exploration and evaluation of these mining rights, the directors are not able to establish a reliable and 
supportable estimate of recoverable amount as per the requirements of IAS 36 Impairment. Whilst the directors remain committed to 
the project in the long term, and perceive that the mining rights do continue to have potential value, because of the early development 
stage of the project, the perceived potential value was not supportable under the applicable accounting standards, as noted. Therefore 
the balance of mining rights, of £10,392,847 is deemed to be impaired and was written down to £nil through the income statement in 
the first half of the year and remains fully impaired at the year end.

12. pRopERty, plANt ANd EquIpMENt

 

group (continuing operations)

Plant and  
machinery

£’000

Office and computer 
equipment

£’000
Total
£’000

Cost

At 1 July 2007 226 16 242

Additions 67 16 83

Transferred to assets held for sale (261) – (261)

Exchange differences 13 1 14

Disposals (5) (2) (7)

At 30 June 2008 40 31 71

Additions 1 7 8

Exchange differences – – –

Disposals – – –

At 30 june 2009 41 38 79

Accumulated depreciation and impairment

At 1 July 2007 6 5 11

Charge for the year 20 17 37

Exchange differences 1 – 1

Disposals (2) (4) (6)

At 30 June 2008 25 18 43

Charge for the year 11 4 15

Exchange differences – – –

Disposals – – –

At 30 june 2009 36 22 58

Carrying amount

At 30 june 2009 5 16 21

At 30 June 2008 15 13 28

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
Year ended 30 June 2009
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12. pRopERty, plANt ANd EquIpMENt (continued)

 

Company

Office fixtures  
and fittings 

£’000

Office and computer
equipment

£’000
Total
£’000

Cost

At 1 July 2007 – 2 2

Additions – 5 5

At 30 June 2008 – 7 7

Additions 1 7 8

At 30 june 2009 1 14 15

Accumulated depreciation and impairment

At 1 July 2007 – – –

Charge for the period – 2 2

At 30 June 2008 – 2 2

Charge for the year – 4 4

At 30 june 2009 – 6 6

Carrying amount

At 30 june 2009 1 8 9

At 30 June 2008 – 5 5

13. SuBSIdIARIES

Interests in subsidiaries
Company

£’000

At 1 July 2007 19,101

Additions –

At 30 June 2008 19,101

Written off during the year (a) (5,460)

At 30 june 2009 13,641

(a)  During the year the Directors made a decision to write down investments in Xtract Oil Limited and Sermines de Mexico SA de CV  
by £5,374,876 and £84,830 respectively, as both subsidiaries were showing a net liability position. The accounting treatment is in line 
with Group Policy and IAS 36 Impairment which is explained in more detail in the preceding Note 11.

Details of the Company’s subsidiaries consolidated at 30 June 2009 are as follows:

Place of Incorporation
and Operation

Date controlling
interest acquired

Proportion of
ownership & voting

power held %

Principal ActivitiesName Group Parent

Sermines de Mexico S.A. de C.V. Mexico 08/08/2005 100 100 Mining exploration

Xtract Oil Limited Australia 17/02/2006 100 100 Mining exploration and  
technology development

Xtract International Ltd Great Britain 15/11/2006 100 100 Holding Company 

Zhibek Oil and Gas Limited (a) Kyrgyz Republic 13/11/2007 100 – Dormant

Xtract Energy Holdings Limited Great Britain 03/12/2007 100 100 Holding Company

(a) Interest held through wholly owned subsidiary Xtract International Ltd, Zhibek Oil and Gas Ltd was liquidated on 18 August 2009.

All of these subsidiaries have been consolidated for the period of ownership.
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14. INtEREStS IN ASSoCIAtES

Details of the Group’s associates at 30 June 2009 are as follows:

Group Company

As at
30 June 2009

£’000

As at
30 June 2008

£’000

As at
30 June 2009

£’000

As at
30 June 2008

£’000

Opening balance 3,900 23,818 – –

Investment in associates (a) 1,465 6,953 1,465 2,862

Exercise of options in associate – 128 – 128

Transferred from subsidiaries (b) 470 818 – 818

Release of deferred consideration (b) 263 – – –

Transferred to available-for-sale investment – (21,021) – (2,151)

Disposal of investment in associate – (6,847) – (1,667)

Profit on dilution of interests in associates 10 1,245 – 10

Share of associates’ losses for the year (1,431) (1,707) – –

Share of associates’ share based payments reserve – 493 – –

Impairment of investment in associate (267) – – –

Exchange translation 1,209 20 – –

5,619 3,900 1,465 –

(a) Includes investment in new associate Extrem Energy during year.
(b)  During the year, 75% of Zhibek Resources Limited, formerly a wholly owned subsidiary of Xtract International Limited, was sold to  

a third party (refer to note 17), with the remaining investment now accounted for as an associate.

Place of Incorporation
and Operation

Date associate  
interest acquired

Proportion of
ownership & voting

power held %

Principal ActivitiesName Group Parent

Extrem Energy A.S. Turkey 02/10/2008 20 20 Oil & gas exploration

Elko Energy Limited Canada 15/11/2006 35.03 35.03 Oil & gas exploration

Zhibek Resources Limited (a) Great Britain/Kyrgyzstan 17/11/2008 25 25 Energy and technology  
investments

 
(a) Transferred from subsidiaries during the year, refer to note 17.

All associates are included in the Group’s accounts based on financial information drawn up to 31 December each year.

Aggregated amounts relating to associates

As at
30 June 2009

£’000

As at
30 June 2008

£’000

Total assets 15,205 10,186

Total liabilities 5,893 1,113

Revenues – 2,938

Loss (4,112) (5,230)

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
Year ended 30 June 2009
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15. FINANCIAl ASSEtS

Group Company

Available-for-sale investments

As at
30 June 2009

£’000

As at
30 June 2008

£’000

As at
30 June 2009

£’000

As at
30 June 2008

£’000

Opening balance 15,962 3,206 1,869 3,206

Unwinding of fair value on transfer to investment in associate – (547) – (547)

Movement in fair value prior to transfer to investment in associate – 26 – 26

Transferred to investments in associates – (818) – (818)

Transferred from investments in associates – 21,021 – 1,934

Acquired during the year (a) 590 424 590 –

Rights issue purchased during the year 65 – 65 –

Disposed during the year (b) (4,304) (5,359) – (4,274)

Movement in fair value (c) (9,098) (1,991) (1,095) 2,342

3,215 15,962 1,429 1,869
 
(a) During the financial year, the Company acquired 3,825,000 shares in an AIM-listed company, Rheochem Plc, for £589,873.
(b)  MEO Australia Limited 44,772,185 shares sold during the year, as at 30 June 2009 14,375,629 MEO shares were still held by the 

Company.
(c) Movement in fair value of investments during the year based on the market value of shares held.

Available-for-sale investments comprise the Group’s investment in listed securities, which are held by the Group as strategic investments. 
The fair value of available-for-sale investments is based on the share price at 30 June 2009. Available-for-sale investments held are subject 
to currency and market risk, refer to note 23. In the period subsequent to year end, the Group has disposed of all its holding in MEO 
Australia Limited and Wasabi Energy Limited, refer to note 28. 

Group Company

Derivative financial instruments 

As at
30 June 2009

£’000

As at
30 June 2008

£’000

As at
30 June 2009

£’000

As at
30 June 2008

£’000

Opening balance 23 9 9 9

Purchased during the period – 135 – –

Expired during period (23) (9)

Fair value increase – 311 – –

Transferred to investments in associates – (128) – –

Transferred to held for trading on exercise of options – (304) – –

– 23 – 9
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16. othER FINANCIAl ASSEtS

Group Company

Trade and other receivables 

As at
30 June 2009

£’000

As at
30 June 2008

£’000

As at
30 June 2009

£’000

As at
30 June 2008

£’000

Other debtors 676 70 12 57

Prepayments 41 60 26 45

717 130 38 102

The directors consider that the carrying amount of trade and other receivables approximates their fair value.

Group Company

Advance payment

As at
30 June 2009

£’000

As at
30 June 2008

£’000

As at
30 June 2009

£’000

As at
30 June 2008

£’000

Advance payment 2,760 – 2,760 –

During the year Xtract invested in a new associate Extrem Energy A.S. (‘Extrem’) (refer to note 14). The other share holder in this 
company is Merty Energy Petroleum Exploration, Education and Services Inc (‘Merty’). At 30 June 2009 Xtract Energy had provided 
funds to Merty to enable exploration and evaluation work to be completed on licenses that are in the process of being legally transferred 
to Extrem. As at 30 June 2009 5 out of 7 licenses were transferred to Extrem. On 2 September 2009 the remaining licenses were 
transferred to Extrem and the advance payment was transferred to Investment in Associate.
 

Group Company

Cash and cash equivalents

As at
30 June 2009

£’000

As at
30 June 2008

£’000

As at
30 June 2009

£’000

As at
30 June 2008

£’000

Cash held and on deposit 3,182 6,362 687 6,201

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash held by the Group and short-term bank deposits with an original maturity of three months or 
less. The carrying amount of these assets approximates their fair value.

17. dISCoNtINuEd opERAtIoNS

On 17 November 2008, Xtract International Limited, a wholly owned subsidiary of Xtract Energy Plc, entered into a Farm In Subscription 
Agreement over its wholly owned subsidiary, Zhibek Resources Limited (‘Zhibek’). Under the terms of the agreement, Santos 
International Holdings Pty Ltd (‘Santos’), a subsidiary of Santos Ltd, was issued shares to provide them with a 75% ownership interest 
in Zhibek. Santos will fund up to US$8.5 million of Zhibek’s near term exploration programme, and assume operatorship and control of 
Zhibek. Xtract will maintain a presence on the board of Zhibek and will contribute US$1.5 million to Zhibek in the latter stages of the near 
term exploration programme.

Based on the terms of the Farm In Subscription Agreement, consideration received for the deemed disposal of 75% of Xtracts’  
interest in Zhibek has been established as the minimum excess funding to be provided by Santos over and above their ownership  
stake, being US$1 million. This consideration has been discounted using a rate of 15%, a rate deemed appropriate by the directors  
given the circumstances of the transaction, over the estimated time required to complete the near term exploration programme of  
2 years. Accordingly the net present value of the deferred consideration for this transaction has been calculated at £609,793 and is  
being released as Santos provides the excess funding under the agreement.

The details of assets and liabilities sold are as follows:

As at  
17 November 2008 

£’000

Carrying value of subsidiary sold 1,778

Consideration received 610

Value of associate retained 470

Loss on sale 698

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
Year ended 30 June 2009
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17. dISCoNtINuEd opERAtIoNS (continued)

On the deemed disposal Xtract have recognised their remaining interest in Zhibek at 25% of Zhibek’s previous carrying value of £470,000.

The directors undertook an impairment assessment of the investment in the associate and concluded that an impairment charge of 
£267,000 should be recognised in order to reflect the associate balance at its fair value indicated by the purchase consideration received 
from Santos (Refer to note 14).

The Group’s balance sheet at 30 June 2009 reflects the following position with respect to Zhibek:

Investment in associate 456

Deferred consideration 310

766

Zhibek has been reflected as a discontinued operation for the periods ended 30 June 2009 and 30 June 2008.

The summary of Zhibek Balance Sheet as at 17 November 2008 was as follows:
As at  

17 November 2008
£’000

Mining exploration rights 401

Cash and cash equivalents 31

Trade and other receivables 116

Inventories 11

Total assets classified as held for sale 559

Trade and other payables (112)

Total liabilities classified as held for sale (112)

Net assets of the disposal group 447

The results of the discontinued operations which have been included in the consolidated income statement, were as follows:

As at  
30 June 2009

£’000

As at  
30 June 2008

£’000

Administrative and operating expenses (119) (282)

(Loss)/gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment – 1

Operating loss (119) (281)

Loss on disposal (698) –

Write down of intangible assets – (530)

Write down of tangible assets (477) –

Loss before tax (1,294) (811)

Attributable tax expense – –

Net loss attributable to discontinued operations (1,294) (811)

During the year, the discontinued operations operating cash inflow was £1,000. It did not generate or receive any cash in respect of 
financing or investing activities.

The effect of discontinued operations on segment results is disclosed in note 5.
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18. dEFERREd tAX

Group Company

As at
30 June 2009

£’000

As at
30 June 2008

£’000

As at
30 June 2009

£’000

As at
30 June 2008

£’000

Deferred tax assets 284 595 127 –

Deferred tax liabilities (14) (5,595) – (83)

270 (5,000) 127 (83)

The following are the major categories of deferred tax liabilities and assets recognised by the Group and movements thereon during the 
current year and prior reporting period.

group

Available-for-sale 
investments

£’000

Investment in
associates

£’000
Intangible assets

£’000

Investments in 
derivatives

£’000
Unutilised losses

£’000
Total
£’000

As at 30 June 2008 (2,579) 595 (3,007) (9) – (5,000)

Charge to income 2,741 (232) 2,977 6 284 5,776

Charge to equity (176) (363) 30 3 – (506)

Transfer – – – – – –

As at 30 June 2009 (14) – – – 284 270
 

Company

Available-for-sale 
investments

£’000

Investment in
associates

£’000
Intangible assets

£’000

Investments in 
derivatives

£’000
Total
£’000

As at 30 June 2008 (97) 14 – – (83)

Charge to income (5) – – – (5)

Charge to equity 215 – – – 215

Acquisition of subsidiary – – – – –

As at 30 June 2009 113 14 – – 127

At the balance sheet date, the Group has available unused UK tax losses of £2.9 million (2008: £5.8 million) and available unused 
Australian tax losses of £0.9 million available for offset against future profits. 

No related deferred tax asset has been recognised on the UK losses due to the unpredictability of future profit streams. Losses may be 
carried forward indefinitely and may be recoverable if suitable taxable profits arise in future periods.

A deferred tax asset is recognised on the Australian losses as there is an anticipated Australian taxable gain in the year ending 30 June 
2010, arising on the disposal of the investment in MEO plc, against which the losses will be utilised.

19. othER FINANCIAl lIABIlItIES

Group Company

Trade and other payables

As at
30 June 2009

£’000

As at
30 June 2008

£’000

As at
30 June 2009

£’000

As at
30 June 2008

£’000

Trade creditors and accruals 486 439 130 353

Current tax payable 3,740 3,636 363 347

Amounts due to subsidiaries (see note 27) – – 5,143 4,293

4,226 4,075 5,636 4,993

The directors consider that the carrying amount of trade payables approximates their fair value.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
Year ended 30 June 2009
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20. ShARE CApItAl

Company Authorised:

As at
30 June 2009

£’000

As at
30 June 2008

£’000

2,000,000,000 (2008: 2,000,000,000) ordinary shares of £0.1p each 2,000 2,000

Issued and fully paid:

This comprises issued and fully paid ordinary shares of £0.1p each Number of shares £

At 1 July 2008 751,765,026 751,765

At 30 june 2009 751,765,026 751,765

The Company has one class of ordinary shares which carry no right to fixed income.

uNLISTED wARRANTS
There were no warrants exercised during the year. The following warrants remain outstanding at 30 June 2009:

 Issued 22 November 2006 – 7,213,475 exercisable at 5.5p per share

 Issued 1 January 2007 to 1 January 2008 – 1,200,000 exercisable at 6p per share

 Issued 1 February 2008 to 1 March 2008 – 200,000 exercisable at 10p per share

 Issued 9 July 2007 – 4,500,000 exercisable at 8p per share

 Issued 9 July 2007 – 1,000,000 exercisable at 10p per share

 Issued 9 July 2007 – 1,000,000 exercisable at 12p per share

 Issued 15 January 2008 – 250,000 exercisable at 8p per share

 Issued 15 January 2008 – 250,000 exercisable at 10p per share

 Issued 15 January 2008 – 250,000 exercisable at 12p per share

 Issued 21 January 2008 – 500,000 exercisable at 8p per share

All of the above warrants entitle the holder to one fully paid share in the Company upon payment of the warrant exercise price per share. 
All warrants vest either immediately or within 3 years of issue and expire within 3 years of vesting.
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21. RECoNCIlIAtIoN oF ChANGES IN EquIty

group

Share
capital

£’000

Share
premium
account

£’000

Share
based

payments
reserve

£’000

Available- 
for-sale 

investments 
reserve

£’000

Revaluation
reserve

£’000

Foreign
currency

translation
reserve

£’000

Retained
earnings

£’000

Minority
Interest

£’000
Total Equity

£’000

At 1 january 2007 704 23,800 411 547 962 (18) 6,064 (91) 32,379

Issue of shares 48 594 – – – – – – 642

Share based payments expense – – 200 – – – – – 200

Movement in share based payments 
reserves of associates

 
–

 
–

 
493

 
–

 
–

 
–

 
–

 
– 493

Tax effect of movement in share 
based payments reserves of 
associates

 
 
–

 
 
–

 
 

(148)

 
 
–

 
 
–

 
 
–

 
 
–

 
 
–

 

(148)

Loss on revaluation of  
available-for-sale investments 

 
–

 
– – (1,963) –

 
–

 
–

 
–

 
(1,963)

Unwinding of fair value on transfer 
to investment in associate 

 
–

 
– –

 
(547) – – – – (547)

Tax effect of unwind of fair value on 
transfer to investment in associate

 
– – – 164 –

 
– – –

 
164

Deferred tax on revaluation of 
available-for-sale investments

 
–

 
– – 376

 
– – –

 
–

 
376

Transfer of available-for-sale 
revaluations to income statement  
on disposal

 
 
–

 
 
–

 
 
–

 
 

(2,236)

 
 
–

 
 
–

 
 
–

 
 
–

 
 

(2,236)

Transfer of deferred tax on 
revaluation of available-for-sale 
assets on disposal

 
 
–

 
 
–

 
 
–

 
 

678

 
 
–

 
 
–

 
 
–

 
 
–

 
 

678

Currency translation differences – – – – – 1,190 – – 1,190

Tax effect of currency translation 
differences

 
–

 
–

 
–

 
–

 
–

 
(361)

 
–

 
–

 
(361)

Loss for the period – – – – – – (788) – (788)

At 30 June 2008 752 24,394 956 (2,981) 962 811 5,276 (91) 30,079

At 1 july 2008 752 24,394 956 (2,981) 962 811 5,276 (91) 30,079

Issue of shares – – – – – – – – –

Share based payments expense – – 20 – – – – – 20

Subsidiary becoming associate (a) – – – – – – – 91 91

Revaluation of intangible asset (b) – – – – (962) – – – (962)

Loss on revaluation of  
available-for-sale investments 

 
–

 
–

 
–

 
(9,098)

 
–

 
–

 
–

 
–

 
(9,098)

Deferred tax on revaluation of 
available-for-sale investments

 
–

 
–

 
–

 
2,616

 
–

 
–

 
–

 
–

 
2,616

Transfer of available-for-sale 
revaluations to income statement 
on disposal

 
 
–

 
 
–

 
 
–

 
 

9,312

 
 
–

 
 
–

 
 
–

 
 
–

 
 

9,312

Transfer of deferred tax on 
revaluation of available-for-sale assets 
on disposal

 
 
–

 
 
–

 
 
–

 
 

(2,794)

 
 
–

 
 
–

 
 
–

 
 
–

 
 

(2,794)

Currency translation differences – – – – – 705 – – 705

Profit for the year – – – – – – (18,101) – (18,101)

At 30 june 2009 752 24,394 976 (2,945) – 1,516 (12,825) – 11,868

(a) Derecognising of minority interest on deconsolidation (see note 17).
(b) Reversal of previously recognised revaluation reserves on impairment of intangible assets.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
Year ended 30 June 2009
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21. RECoNCIlIAtIoN oF ChANGES IN EquIty (continued)

Company
Share capital

£’000

Share premium
account

£’000

Share based
payments

reserve
£’000

Available- 
for-sale  
reserve

£’000

Retained
earnings

£’000
Total Equity

£’000

At 1 january 2007 704 23,800 411 547 (1,077) 24,385

Issue of shares 48 594 – – – 642

Share based payments expense – – 200 – – 200

Unwind of fair value on transfer  
to investment in associate – – – (547) – (547)

Tax effect of unwind of fair value on 
transfer to investment in associate – – – 164 – 164

Gain on revaluation of available  
for sale investments – – – 1,973 – 1,973

Deferred tax on revaluation of 
available-for-sale investments – – – (827) – (827)

Transfer of available-for-sale 
revaluations to income statement  
on disposal – – – (2,669) – (2,669)

Transfer of deferred tax on revaluation 
of available-for-sale assets on disposal – – – 801 – 801

Loss for the period – – – – (703) (703)

At 30 june 2008 752 24,394 611 (558) (1,780) 23,419

Issue of shares – – – – – –

Share based payments expense – – 18 – – 18

Loss on revaluation of  
available-for-sale investments – – – (1,095) – (1,095)

Deferred tax on revaluation of 
available-for-sale investments – – – 215 – 215

Exchange differences on translation – – – – – –

Loss for the year – – – – (7,984) (7,984)

 At 30 june 2009 752 24,394 629 (1,438) (9,764) 14,573

Available-for-sale reserve
The available-for-sale reserve is used to recognise fair value changes on available-for-sale investments.

Foreign currency translation reserve
The foreign currency translation reserve is used to record exchange differences arising from translation of the financial statements  
of foreign subsidiaries.

Share based payments reserve
The share based payments reserve is used to recognise the equity component of share base payments.

Revaluation reserve
The revaluation reserve is made up of the revaluation of the assets of Xtract Oil Limited upon the piecemeal acquisition of that company.
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22. NotES to thE CASh Flow StAtEMENt

Group Company

Year ended 
30 June 2009

£’000

Year ended 
30 June 2008

£’000

Year ended 
30 June 2009

£’000

Year ended 
30 June 2008

£’000

Loss for the year (18,101) (788) (7,984) (703)

Adjustments for:

Share of results of associates 1,431 1,707 – –

Investment revenue (124) (207) (122) (193)

Other (gains) and losses 20,158 (4,617) 6,848 (984)

Income tax (credit)/expense  (5,729) 932 4 274

Government grants (179) (119) – –

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 31 38 4 2

Share-based payments expense 20 200 20 200

Due diligence fee income – (74) – –

Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment – (1) – –

Operating cash flows before movements in working capital (2,493) (2,929) (1,230) (1,404)

(Increase)/Decrease in inventories 47 (42) – –

(Increase)/Decrease in receivables (573) 31 64 (19)

Increase/(Decrease) in payables 192 134 (223) 234

Cash used in operations (2,827) (2,806) (1,389) (1,189)

Income taxes paid – – – –

Interest expenses 323 – 13 –

Foreign exchange differences 172 375 135 68

Net cash used in operating activities (2,332) (2,431) (1,241) (1,121)

23. FINANCIAl INStRuMENtS

CAPITAL AND LIquIDITy RISK MANAgEMENT
The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the Group will be able to continue as going concerns while maximising the 
return to stakeholders through the optimisation of the debt and equity balance. The Group is not subject to externally imposed capital 
requirements. The capital structure of the Group consists of cash and cash equivalents and equity attributable to equity holders of the 
parent, comprising issued capital, reserves and retained earnings as disclosed in notes 20 and 21.

The Group manages its liquidity through orderly and planned realisation of existing investments in order to fund investment in new 
opportunities and provide working capital for operating costs and overheads. Further information relevant to the Group’s liquidity position 
is included in Note 26.

The Group currently has no debt and as such does not review its gearing ratio at present.

SIgNIFICANT ACCOuNTINg POLICIES
Details of the significant accounting policies and methods adopted, including the criteria for recognition, the basis of measurement 
and the basis on which income and expenses are recognised, in respect of each class of financial asset, financial liability and equity 
instrument are disclosed in note 2 to the financial statements.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
Year ended 30 June 2009
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23. FINANCIAl INStRuMENtS (continued)

CATEgORIES OF FINANCIAL INSTRuMENTS
The Group calculates the fair value of assets and liabilities by reference to amounts considered to be receivable or payable at the balance 
sheet date. The Group’s financial assets and liabilities, together with their fair values are as follows:

Book value Fair value

group
2009
£’000

2008
£’000

2009
£’000

2008
£’000

Financial assets

Cash and cash equivalents 3,182 6,362 3,182 6,362

Available-for-sale assets 3,215 15,962 3,215 15,962

Derivative financial instruments – 23 – 23

Trade and other receivables 717 130 717 130

7,114 22,477 7,114 22,477

Financial liabilities

Trade and other payables 486 439 486 439

Market values have been used to determine the fair value of available-for-sale assets. The fair value of derivative financial instrument has 
been calculated using the Black-Scholes model. The fair value of borrowings has been calculated by discounting the expected future cash 
flows at prevailing interest rates. The fair value of other financial assets has been calculated using market interest rates.

The Company’s financial assets and liabilities, other than trade receivables and payables, together with their fair values are as follows:

Book value Fair value

Company
2009
£’000

2008
£’000

2009
£’000

2008
£’000

Financial assets

Cash and cash equivalents 687 6,201 687 6,201

Available-for-sale assets 1,429 1,869 1,429 1,869

Loans to subsidiaries 53 802 53 802

Derivative financial instruments – 9 – 9

Trade and other receivables 38 102 38 102

2,207 8,983 2,207 8,983

Financial liabilities

Trade and other payables 130 353 130 353

Loans from subsidiaries 5,143 4,293 5,143 4,293

5,273 4,646 5,273 4,646

MARKET RISK
The Group’s activities subject it primarily to the financial risks of changes in the market prices of equities and changes in foreign currency 
exchange rates. The Group applies a continuous review process to manage its exposure to foreign currency and equity price risk:

•	 Equity prices of the Group’s holdings are monitored by senior management on a daily basis.
•	 	The Board has established strategies for each of the respective holdings based on their expectations of likely movements in equity 

prices and the desired balance of the Group’s investment portfolio.
•	 These strategies are updated on a regular basis to reflect actual market data and the changing needs of the business. 
•	 The respective exchange rates of the currencies for which the Group holds significant balances are monitored on a daily basis. 
•	 	Known cash requirements in the respective currencies in which the Group transacts are matched against cash reserves and any short 

falls are addressed through transfers throughout the longest practical timeframes in order to minimise as best as possible foreign 
currency risk.
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23. FINANCIAl INStRuMENtS (continued)

MARKET RISK (continued)
Foreign currency sensitivity analysis
The Group is mainly exposed to the US dollar and Australian dollar.

The following table details the Group’s sensitivity to a 10% increase and decrease in Sterling against the US dollar and Australian dollar. 
10% represents management’s assessment of a reasonably possible change in the foreign exchange rates. The sensitivity analysis 
includes only outstanding foreign currency denominated monetary items and adjusts their translation at the period end for a 10% change 
in the foreign currency rates. A positive number below indicates an increase in the profit and other equity where the sterling strengthens 
against the relevant currency. For a 10% weakening there would be an equal and opposite impact on the profit and other equity, and the 
balances below would be negative.

                                 Australian dollar impact                                  US dollar impact

2009
£’000

2008
£’000

2009
£’000

2008
£’000

Profit or loss 305 539 44 105

Equity price sensitivity analysis
The sensitivity analyses below have been determined based on the exposure to equity price risks at the reporting date. The chosen 
sensitivity is a 50% increase/decrease in equity prices, based on management’s assessment of the underlying assets in the portfolio  
and the current market conditions.

If equity prices had been 50% higher/lower at the year end:

Other equity reserves would increase/decrease by £1,677,881 (2008: £8,053,239) for the Group before taxation effects, as a result of the 
changes in fair value of available-for-sale investments.

INTEREST RATE RISK
The following table sets out the carrying amount, by maturity, of the Group’s financial instruments that are exposed to interest rate risk:

As at 30 june 2009
Less than one year

£’000
Total
£’000

Floating rate

Cash and cash equivalents 3,182 3,182

As at 30 june 2008
Less than one year

£’000
Total
£’000

Floating rate

Cash and cash equivalents 6,362 6,362

The following table sets out the carrying amount, by maturity, of the Company’s financial instruments that are exposed to interest rate risk:

As at 30 june 2009
Less than one year

£’000
Total
£’000

Floating rate

Cash and cash equivalents 687 687

As at 30 june 2008
Less than one year

£’000
Total
£’000

Floating rate

Cash and cash equivalents 6,201 6,201

Credit risk
The Group’s principal financial assets are cash deposits with financial institutes. An allowance for impairment is made where there is an 
identified loss event, which is evidence of a reduction in the recoverable cash flows.

The credit risk on liquid funds is limited because the counterparties are banks with high credit-ratings assigned by international  
credit-rating agencies.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
Year ended 30 June 2009
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24. EXpENdItuRE CoMMItMENtS

At the balance sheet date the Group and Company have outstanding commitments under non-cancellable operating leases, which fall 
due as follows:

Group Company

As at
30 June 2009

£’000

As at
30 June 2008

£’000

As at
30 June 2009

£’000

As at
30 June 2008

£’000

Operating lease rentals

Within one year – 47 – 47

Within the second to fifth years inclusive – 28 – 28

– 75 – 75

Capital expenditures

Within one year 3,847 503 3,847 206

Within the second to fifth years inclusive 908 129 – 129

4,755 632 3,847 335

The expenditure commitments relate to work programme capital expenditures. The capital expenditure commitments are subject to 
variation on application to the relevant governmental authority. 

25. ShARE BASEd pAyMENtS

The Company has issued share warrants to certain employees and officers of the Group, along with external third parties. All warrants 
vest immediately, with the exception of one external contractor, refer below. If the warrants remain unexercised after the relevant time 
period from the date of grant the warrants expire. Details of the share warrants outstanding during the year are as follows.

Year ended 30 June 2009 Year ended 30 June 2008

Number of share
warrants

Weighted average
exercise price

£
Number of share

warrants

Weighted average
exercise price

£

Outstanding at beginning of year 24,363,475 0.062 15,713,475 0.048

Granted during the year – 8,650,000 0.088

Forfeited during the year – –

Exercised during the year – –

Expired during the year (8,000,000) 0.040 –

Outstanding at the end of the year 16,363,475 0.072 24,363,475 0.062

Exercisable at the end of the year 16,363,475 24,363,475
 
No share warrants were exercised or granted during the year. The warrants outstanding at 30 June 2009 had a weighted average 
exercise price of £0.072, and a weighted average remaining contractual life of 1.03 years. All share-based payments to Directors and 
employees are recognised as an expense in the income statement over the vesting period of the options. 
 
The Group recognised total expenses of £19,673 and £199,799 related to equity-settled share-based payment transactions in 2009  
and 2008 respectively.

The amount recognised in equity relating to share-based payments at the balance sheet date was £975,730 (2008: £956,058).

26. GoING CoNCERN 

The Group’s business activities, together with the factors likely to affect its future development, performance and position are set out in 
the Chairman’s Statement on pages 02 and 03 and in the CEO’s Review on pages 08 to 15. The financial position of the Group, its cash 
flows, liquidity position are described in the Financial Review on pages 16 and 17. In addition note 23 to the financial statements includes 
the Group’s objectives, policies and processes for managing its capital; its financial risk management objectives; details of its financial 
instruments; and its exposures to credit risk. 

The Group is not currently generating revenues from its operations, and its forecasts and projections show that it would not have 
sufficient cash to make further investments in its existing and new projects in line with the Group’s strategy as well as settle its current 
liabilities when due and meet its ongoing overheads without gaining access to additional funds. The Group continues to manage its 
investments as a portfolio, seeking to dispose of investments, bring in strategic partners and raise funds as appropriate to finance its 
obligations and to fund new investments. Management plans to address the Group’s funding requirements through a combination of 
these measures. Management believes that it will be able to manage the Group’s liquidity position successfully, but at this stage there  
is no committed transaction which would address the Group’s cash requirements.
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26. GoING CoNCERN (continued)

The directors have concluded that, given that the general economic climate remains challenging, these circumstances represent a 
material uncertainty that casts significant doubt upon the Group’s and the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern and that, 
therefore, the Company may be unable to realise its assets and discharge its liabilities in the normal course of business. Nevertheless 
after making enquiries, and considering the uncertainties above, the directors have a reasonable expectation that the Group and the 
Company have adequate resources to continue in operational existence for the foreseeable future. For these reasons, they continue to 
adopt the going concern basis in preparing the annual report and financial statements. 

27. RElAtEd pARty tRANSACtIoNS

Transactions between the Company and its subsidiaries, which are related parties, have been eliminated on consolidation and are not 
disclosed in this note. Transactions between the Group and its associates are disclosed below. 

REMuNERATION OF KEy MANAgEMENT PERSONNEL
The remuneration of the directors, who are the key management personnel of the Group, for the 12 month period ended 30 June 2009 
is set out below in aggregate for each of the categories specified in IAS 24 Related Party Disclosures. 

 2009
£’000

2008
£’000

Short-term employee benefits 330 331

Share-based payment 18 168

348 499

The remuneration for the highest paid Director was £168,525. The remuneration of directors and key executives is determined by the 
remuneration committee having regard to the performance of individuals and market trends.

28. EvENtS AFtER thE BAlANCE ShEEt dAtE

DISPOSAL ShARES IN MEO AuSTRALIA LIMITED
Between 23 July and 7 August 2009, Xtract sold the remaining 14,375,629 shares in MEO Australia Limited, receiving A$6,998,351  
after brokerage costs. 

DISPOSAL ShARES IN wASABI ENERgy LIMITED
During August – September 2009, Xtract disposed of its entire shareholding in Wasabi Energy Limited, receiving A$1,376,757  
after brokerage costs for 126,551,786 shares. The remaining 26,625,000 Wasabi shares were exchanged into 1,775,000 Elko shares.

ELKO ENERgy 
In August 2009 Xtract has acquired additional 1,775,000 shares of Elko increasing its holding in the company to 36,775,000 (36.81%).

After the reporting period on 26 August 2009, Elko and its subsidiary Dragon Energy Inc (“Dragon”) signed an overriding royalty 
agreement whereby Elko will benefit from a 2.5% overriding royalty from future revenues from the Kotaneelee field, over a maximum 
term of five years capped at an aggregate value of C$750,000. In exchange Elko returned to Dragon 15,600,000 common shares 
representing its 51% ownership and Jack Bray, Peter Moir and Andy Morrison resigned from the board of Dragon.

Dragon holds a 30.67% working interest in the Kotaneelee field in the Yukon Territory, Canada operated by Devon. Gas production 
at Kotaneelee is in decline and gas prices in North America are depressed resulting in a significantly weakened revenue stream from 
current production levels. The disposal of Dragon eliminated a potential liability from Elko’s balance sheet.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS
On 14 August 2009 options were issued to all Directors according to the schedule set out below. All of these options are exercisable 
from the date of grant at an exercise price of 5.0 pence per share and expire on the third anniversary of the date of grant.

Andy Morrison 6,300,000

John Newton 3,360,000

Mark Nichols 360,000

Rob Annells 360,000

Sue Wickerson 360,000

John Conlon 360,000

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
Year ended 30 June 2009
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